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SECURITIES DIVISION
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NOTICE OF ADJUDICATORY PROCEEDING

Please take notice that William Francis Galvin, Secretary of the Commonwealth, by his

Enforcement Section of the Securities Division (respectively, the “Enforcement Section” and

"Division") seeks an Order: (a) requiring Respondents to temporarily cease .and desist from

- acting as unregistered broker-dealers or as investment advisers a.md- investment adviser
representatives; (b) requiring Respondents to temporarily cease aﬁd destst from effectuating the
;)ffer and sale of unregistered securities in the Commonwealth until and unless the securities are
properly registered or sold pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Act; (c)
requiring Respondents to temporé.ri‘ly cease and desist from fraudulent activity in violation of the
Act and Regulations; (d) requiring Respondents, after notice and opportunity for hearing, to

‘permanently cease and desist from acting as unregisterea broker-dealers or investment advisers
and investment adviser representatives; (e) requiring Respondents, after notice and opportunity
for hearing, to permahently cease and desist'.from effectuating the offer and sale of unregistered
securities in the Commonwealth until and unless the securities are properly registered or sold

pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Act; (f) requiring Respondents, after notice
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and opportunity for heariﬁg, to penﬁanently cease and desist from fraudulent activity in violation
of the Act and Regulations; (g) requiring Respondents. to provide an accounting of all proceeds
that were received as a result of the alleged wrongdoing, and to offer rescission to and fairly
compensate victims for those losses attributable to the alleged wrbngdoing; (h) requ.iring
Respolndents to disgorge all proéeeds and other direct or indirect remuneration received from ;che
 alleged '\Affongdoing; (i) requiring Respondents to pay an administrative fine in an amc;unt and
upon such terms and conditions as the Director or I—iearing Officer may determine; (j) barring'
Respondents ffom acting as or being associated with any Massachusetts-registered broker-dealer;
(k) barring'Respondents from acting as or being associated with any Massachusetts-registe'red
investment adviser or investment adviser. representative; and (1) requesting the Director or
Hearing Officer to take such further action against Respondents as may be deemed just and A
appr(;priate for the protection of investors. |

Respondents have the right to req:uest an adjudicatory hearing at which they may show good
cause why such an order and sanctions should not be entered. The adjudicatory pr6céeding is
governed by Massachusetts General Laws; Chapter 110A and by the Rules set forth in Title 950 of
_the Code of Massachusetts Regulations beginning at Section 10.00.

The matters of fact and law in the proceeding a.re set forth in the Administrative
Complaint, a copy of which is filed and served herewith. |

| In accordance with 950 Mass. Code Regs. ]0.‘06(6), Respondents must file an answer to

each allegation set forth in the Administrative Complaint within twenty-oﬁe.(Zj) days after
- service upon Respondents. A Respondent who fails to file a timely answer may be deemed toll;)e
in default, and the allegations of the Administrative. Complaint may thereupon be accepted.as _

true and the proceedings determined against the defaulting party by issuance of a final order.




Dated: Julyat,2012

'WILLIAM FRANCIS GALVIN
SECRETARY OF THE COMMONWEALTH

‘Massachusetts Securities Division
One Ashburton Place, Room 1701
Boston, Massachusetts 02108
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I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Enforcement Section (“Enforcement Section™) of the ‘Massachusetts
Securities Division of the Office of the Secretary of the Commonwealth (“Division”) files

this administrative comptlaint (“Complaint™) to commence an adjudicatory proceeding

against John William Cranney (“Cranney™), Cranney Capital I, LLC, Cranney Capital III,

Inc., and Cranney Industries d/b/a Belmont Industries (colléctively, “Respondents”) for
violating MASS. GEN. LAwsS ch. 110A, the Massachusetté Uniform Securities Act (“Act™),
and 950 MASS. CoDE REGS. 10.00 ef seq. (“Regulations’;). The Complaint alleges that
Réspondénts engaged 1r1 a Ponzi scheme that defrauded at least 36 (thirty-six) victims
from multiple states of approximately $10.4 million dollars and failed to register and
acted as broker-dealers or as investment advisers aﬁd investment adviser representatives
in violation of the Act and Regulations. The Complaint further alleges that Respondents
effectuated the offer and sale of unregistered securities in violation of the Act and its

related Regulations.



. For any and all of the reasons set forth above, it is in the public interest and will
prot.ect Massachusetts .investors to enter an Order: (a) requiring Respondents to
temporarily cease and desist from acting as unregistered br(;ker-deallers or as investment
advisers and investment adviser representatives; (b) requiring Respondents to temporaﬁfy
cease and desist from effectuati.ng the offer and sale of unregistered securities in the
Commonwealth until and uniess the securities are properly registered or sold pursuant to
an exemption from registration under the Act; (c) requiring Respondents to terﬁporarily
cease aﬁd desist from fraudlulent activity in'v_.iolation of the. Act and Regulations; (d)
requirihg Respondents, after notice and opportunity for hearing, to permanently cease and
desist from acting as unregistered broker-dealers or investment advisers and investment
adviser representatives; (e) requiring Respondents, after notice and opportunity for
hearing, to permanently cease and desist from effectuating the offer and sale of
unregistered securities in the Commonwealth until and unless the securities are properly -
registered or sold pursuént to.an exemption from régistration under the Act; .(D requiring
Respondents, after notice and opportunity for hearing, to permanently cease and dc_asist
frorﬁ fraudulent activity in violation of the Act and Regulations; (g) requiriﬁg
Respondents to provide aﬁ accounting of all proceeds that were received as a result of thel
alleged wrongdoing, and to offer resciésion to and fairly éompensate vic.:tims for those
losses attributable to the 'allleged wrongdoing; (h) requiring Respondents to disgorge all
proceeds and other .direct 6r indirect remuneration received from the alleged wrbngdoing;
(i) requiring Respbndents to pay an administrative fine in an amount and upon such terms
and conditions as the Director or He;ring Officer may determine; (j) baning.Réspoﬁdents

from acting as or being associated with any Massachusetts-registered broker-dealer; (k)




barring Respondents from acting as or being associated with any Massachusetts-
registered investment adviser or.investment adviser representative; and (1) requesting the

Director or Hearing Officer to take such further action against Respondents as may be

deemed just and appropriate for the protection of investors.

II. SUMMARY

The Division alleges that the fraudulent offers and sales of unregistered and non-

.exempt securities by John W. Cranney.(“Cranney”), who also goes by Jack Cranney, of

885 Concord Avenue, Belmont, Massachusetts, have been part of a cdmplex nationwide
Ponzi scheme to defraud at least thirty-six (36) individual v1ct1me from Massechusetts
Mary]and California, Michigan, Kansas ‘Georgia, New Hampshire, Texas, Utah, Malne
Tennessee, Connecticut, Missouri and Florida of approximately $10.4 million dollars. In
Massachusetts alone, at least ten (10) vietims invested approximately $1,510,069.15 with
Crannej. | |

In the past ten (10} S/ears, Cranney created at least five (5) separate and related
entities known as Crann.ey Capital I, LLC, Cranney Capital I Employee Stock Ownership
Trust, Cranney Capital II, LLC, Cranney Capital I1I, Inc., and Cranney Industries d/ld/a
Belmc’mt in_dustries td facilitate this scheme. Individually ‘al’lld through these unregistered
entities, Cfanney offered and sold unregistered securities in the form of promissory notes.
Cranney used his affiliation with femily, friends and colleagues dt Shaklee .Co-rporation
(“Shaklee™), many of whom he has known for fifteen (15) to twenty (20) years, to gain
their trust and soli¢it investments. The majority of Cranney’s victims are affiliated with

Shaklee and many are senior citizens. Shaklee is a multi-level marketing company that

.produces and distributes nutritional and personal care products. Cranney’s .family




brought Shaklee to I;Jev;r England. Cranney is an independent distributor for Shaklee and
a ‘sponsor of approximatel.y 50,000 independent distributor contracts, but Cranney
testified that he could not be sure about the exact numbers because “[Shaklee] purge(s]
 the records, and they don’t tell us exactly, é_o that could go up and down. I have no‘rway
of knowing.” In describing his role as a fsponsor,' Cranney stated it is “to help and
basically train people, talk to them, work with them in the Shaklee business. It’s typified
aé a larlge extended tribal family.” Cranney believes he is within the top twenty (20) in
the Shaklcé hierar(;hy, although because Shaklee does not publish that information he
really does not khov\.f.

Cranney falsely fepresented himself as a financial advisor and/or investment fund
manager and enticed unsuspecting victims with promises of high returns on safe .
investments. Cranney is not registered in Massachusetts or any other state to sell
securities Or_providé investment advice. Cranney falsely represented in many instances
that funds would be placed into a legitimate investment \}ehicle as part of a qualified
retiremeﬁt planl. "Upon information and belief; he used the funds for his own personal
' purpose's, to fund his distributorship of Shaklee, and to répay amounts to other victims.

| The Division alleges that victims received promissory notes signed by Cranney, in
rvarying amounté, with terms that required repayment ranges between fifty-five (55) days
or one (1)‘ to twelve (12) yeérs, and \n;ith interest rates that ranged from “prime” rate plus
two (2) percent, capped at ten (10) to twelve (12) percent annually. Upon maturity of the
note, the victims were automatically renewed for a period of years unless written notice
was received within 120 to 180 days of the maturity date. While éomc victims did

receive payments of principal and interest, upon.information and belief those payments




were méde using funds obtained from otHer victims and Cranney was ablc_e to continﬁe to
operate his schemé as ldng as most of the victims kept renewing their investments..
Beginning in' approximately 2008, Cranney began to default on making p_ayrﬁents on
outstanding promissory notes. Cranney began.to repeatgdly ignore victim calls or emails
and remained out of reach. 'As more victims demanded either interest or. principal
payménts to be returned, Cranney’s schemé began to unravel.

Cranney anld his Iwifé have putltheir home at 885 Concord Avenue in Belmont, -
| Massacrhu.setts up for sale with an asking price of $3.8 million. On March 11, 2011,
| Cranney conve&ed all of his interest in 885 Concord Avénue, Belmont, Massachusetts to
himrseif as Trustee of the John William Cranney Revocable Trust, and to his wife, as
trustee of a revocable tht in her name, as tenants in common. N

On April 24, 2012, onc _vidtim, identified l;elow as Victim Three, filed a civil
lawsuit against Cranney, individually and as Trustee of the John William Cranney
Revocable Tfust, and against Cranne.y’s wife, as trustee of a revocable trus'.[ in her name,
in Middlesex Superior Court in Massachusetts for breach of contract, fraud, conversion,
and fraudulent trénsfer. Oh May 7, 2012, Victim Three obtainéd a $250,000 attéchment
on Cranney’s residence in Belmont, Massachusetts. |

On June 7, 2012, another victim, identified below as Victim Fo.ur, filed a civil
lawsuit against Cranney, individuailly and as Trustee of the John Wii_liém Cranney
Revocable Trust, Cranney’s wife, as frustee of a revocable trust in her name, Cranney
Industries, Inc. d/b/a Belmont Industries, and Shaklee, in Middleséx Superior Court in

Massachusetts for breach of promissory note, fraud, conversion, unjust enrichment, and




frauduleht transfer. On June 13, 2012, Victim Four obtained a $200,000 attachment on‘
Cranny’s residence ip Belmont, Massachusetts. |
| On July 10, 2012, several victims, including the son of the victim identified below
as Victim Fifteeﬁ, jointly filed a lawsuit against Cranney, Cranny Capital I, and C.ranney
Capital III in United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts to recoup
funds tota‘liné more than $3.5 million .invested with Cranney and the Cranney entities.
Upon information 'andjbelief, alt of the 'Cranngy victims who brought suit against
Cranney and his entities in federal court ére elderly individuals.

The Division estimates that Massachusetts victims alone have invested $1.5

million with Cranney and his entities, and with the additional victims from other states,

the Division estimates that the total amount invested with Cranney and his entities is at

‘least $10.4 million.

Upon information and belief, the Division believes that the majority of funds are

not invested in any fund or employee stock ownership trust, but instead were retained by

‘Cranney for personal gain.

III. JURISDICTION AND AUTHORITY

1. The Massachusetts Securities Division is a division of the Office of the Secretary
of the Commonwealth with jurisdiction over matters relating to securities as provided for

by the Act. Tﬁe Act authorizes the Division to regulate: (1) the offers, sales and

" purchases of securities; (2) those individuals offering and/or selling securities within the

Commonwealth; and (3) those individuals transacting business as broker-dealers or acting

as investment advisers within the Commonwealth.




2. VThe Division brings this action pursuant to the enforcement authority conferred
upon it l-)y Section 407A of the Act and MASS. GEN. LAWS ¢h. 30A, wherein the Divisiori
has the authority to conduct an adjudicatory proceeding to enforce the‘provisions‘of the
Act and all related rules énd regulations promﬁlgated thereunder.

3 This proceeding is brought in accordance with Sections 101, 201, 301 and 407A

of the Act and its related Regulations. Specifically, those acts and practices constituting .

violations of the Act occurred in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.

4. The Division specifically reserves the right to amend this Complaint and/or bring

additional administrative complaints to reflect information‘ devéloped during the current
. and ongoing investigation.

IV. RELEVANT TIME PERIOD

5. Except as otherwise expressly stated, the conduct described herein occurred
during the approximate period of time between Aprii 23, 2002 to date (“Relevant Time

Period™).

V. RESPONDENTS

6. John William Cran'n.ey (“Cranﬁey”), wth also goes by Jack Cranney, 70, is a
natﬁral person with a residential address of 885 Concotd 'Avemie,' Belmont,
' Méssaéhuscﬁs 02478. Cranney is the foundér of Cranney Capital I, LLC and Cranney
- Capital III, Inc. J.W. Cranney is listed as the Operating Manager of Cranney Capita] 11,
LLC.in its lowa corporation filings. Cranney is listed as the President, Treasurer,

Secretary, and Director of Cranney Industries, Inc. in its Massachusetts corporation

filings. Cranney has never been registered with the Division in any capacity.




7. Cranny Capital I, LLC .(“Cranney Capital I} is an acfive domestic limitled
Iiability company fhat was orgranized under the laws of the state of lowa on July 26, 2004.
An admlinistrative dissoluftion of Cranney Capital I was filed on August 9, 2011. Cranney
Cepital I was retroactively reinstated on August 9, 2011. The sole Operating Maneger of
Cranney Capital I is JW. Cranney. Cranney Capital 1 has not ‘ﬁled articles of
organization in Massachusetts. Cranney Capital I 'hes. never held a registration in
Massachusetts'as a broker-dealer, an investment adviser, or in any other eapacity in the
securities business. Cranney Capital I has never filed an applicetion for registration of, or
notice of exemptin_n for, securities te be offered in Mass'achusetts. Cranney represented
to victirns that Cranney Capital [ was a qualified retirement plan structured as an

Employee Stock Ownership Trust (“ESOT”).

8. - _:Cranney Capital ITI, Inc. (“Cranney Capitai III”) is a domestic for-profit
corporation that was 6rgenized under the laws of the stete of Towa on December 13,
'2004. Cranney Capital 1II’s sole director and president is John W. Cranney of 885
~ Concord Avenue, Belmont, Massachusetts 02478. Cranney Capital 111 has a home office
. location of 885 Concord Avenue, Belmont, Massnchusetts 02478. Cranney Capitél 111
has not filed articles of organization in the Commonwealth of Massaehusetts. Cranney
Capital III has neverr held ;i registration in Massachusetts as a broker-dealer, an
investment adviser, or in any‘. other capacity in the securities businees. Cranney Capital
111 has never filed an applicafion for registration of, or notice of exemptinn for, securities

" to be offered in Massachusetts.

0. Cranney Industries, Inc. d/b/a Belmont Industries (“Cfanney Industries™) is a

wholesale and retail independent distributor of health and nutritional supplements for the




- Shaklee Corporation. Cranny Ind.ustries is an active domestic profit corporation

organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts on October 1,’ 1980.

Cranney is listed as the ‘President, Treasurer, Secretary, and Director of Cranney

Industries, Inc. in its Massachusett.s corporation filings. According to filings made with

the Sec;etary of the Commonwealth, Cranney Industries r;laintained a principal place of

business at 97 Blanchard Road,‘ Cambridge, Massachusetts, 02138. This location was

closed in 2012. Cranney Industries has never held a ’registration in Massachusetts as a

broker-dealer, an investment adviser, or in any other capacity in the securities business.

Cranney Industries has never filed an appliqation for registration of, or notice of |
exemption for, securiﬁies to be offered in Massachusetts.

V1. RELATED PARTIES

10. Shaklee Corporation (“Shaklee”) is a company that manufactures nutrition and

personal care products. Shaklee products are sold through a multi-level marketing
“system by independent distributors. Shaklee is incorporated in the State of Delaware and
its corporate headquarters is located at 4747 Willow Road, Pleasanton, California 94588-

2740. Shaklee maintains a website located at www.shaklee.com.

10.  Howard Musin (“Muéin”)_ is an individual who is listed as the registered agent for
Cranney Capital I, Cranney Capital II, and Cranney Capital IAIIl with an address of 2190
NW 82nd Street, Suite 4, Clive, lowa 50325, Musin has prepared tax returns for Cranney
and his related 'corpor.ate entities and gthcr distributors for Shaklee up until 2011. In July
of 2011, a federal court permahently barred Musin, his wife Jill Schwartz—Musiﬁ, and

their three companies (SSC Sefvices, Inc., M-S Services Inc., and Schwartz’s Systems




Corporation) from preparing tax returns for others after engaging in misconduct and fraud
in preparing tax returns.
11. Robert Deel (“Deel™) is an individual who is listed as the “CEO and trading _

351

strategist for Tradingschool.com with a principa.l place of business located at 38119
C]ear Creek ‘Street, Murrieta, California 92562. Deel provided to.the Division that
Tradingschool.com is a “one pefson company” and that the company “ad'dre_sses the
-disciplines of trading psychology, stratelgic technicallanalysis, and tactical trading.”
Deel was a licensed dental hygienist from 1978 tol 2003 and has not been affiliated with a
broker;dealer or ihvestfnent adviser since approximately 1997. Deel provided several

trading sessions between 2008 and 2009 at Cranney’s home at 885 Concord Avenue,

Belmont, Massachusetts 02478 at a cost of $1,9995.00 per person.

12.  Cranney Capital II, LLC (“Cranney Capital II”") is a domestic limited liability.
company that was organized under the laws of the state ;nf Iowa on July 26, 2004. An
administrative dissolution of Cranney Capital II was ﬁled-on August 9, 2011. According
to filings made \’;rith the lowa Secrétary of State, Cranney Capital 1l maintéined a
princiéal place of business at 2190 NW 82nd Street, Suite 4, Clive, lowa 50325. J.W.
Cranney is listed as the Operating Manager o_f Cranney Capital II, LLC in its lowa
corporation filings., Cranney Capital II has not ﬁleci articles of organization in the
Commonwealth -of Massachusetts. 'C.ranney Capital II has never held a registrétion in
' Massachusetfs as a broker-dealer, aﬁ investment adviser, or in any other capacit}; in the
securities business. Cranney Capital II has never filed an application for registration of,

" or notice of exemption for, securities to be offered in Massachusetts.

! Following receipt of a subpoena issued by the Division, Deel deleted the term CEQ and trading strategist
from the website www.tradingschool.com.
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13.  Cranney Productions, LLC (“Cranney Productions™) is a domestic limited liability

company that was organized under the laws of the state of Nevada on November 12,

- 2009. According to filings made with the Secretary of S‘fate of Nevada, John w. Cranney |

is the manager of Cranney Productions, with an address listed at 885 Concord Avenue,

Belmont, Massachusetts 02478, -Cranney Productions hosts the Shaklee Business
Development Conference, a two-day training seminar to teach indepcndcnt'Vdistributors

how to build their Shaklee business and sells business development tools for Shaklee.

(See Business Development Conference Newsletter for 2012, at Exhibit 1). Cranney

Productions maintains a website located at www.crannymeetings.com and at least eight
(8) other related domains. (See Screenshot of Cranney Productions website, at Exhibit
2).

VIL. FACTS AND ALLEGATIONS

A. INTRODUCTION

14.  The Division initiated its in})estigafion into '.Respondems’ .unregist.ered
invéstment-related activities after receiviﬁg a written complaint from a victim. co‘up_le
from Maine on May 18, 2012,

15. After reCeiv.ing the written complaint, the Division su.bpo.enaed documents,
‘ihterrogatpries, and téstimony .from Cranney. |

16. Cranney provided testimony under oath before the Division on July 13, 2012
pursuant to a subpoena. -

B. JOHN W. CRANNEY BACKGROUND

17.  Cranney, 70, is a natural person with a residential addre'ss' of 885 Concord

Avenue, Belmont, Massachusetts 02478.
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18.  Cranney does not have an educational or professionél background in anything

related to the securities industry.

19, © Cranney has never been registered with the Division, any other state or federal

regul-ator, or FINRA in any capacity.
20. Beginning on or about April 2002, and contmumg until Aprll 2012, in
Massachusetts and elsewhere in the United States, Cranney operated a fraudulent scheme
by which he defrauded at -1east thirty-six (36) individuals of millions of dollars.
21.  The scheme consisted of Cranney obtalnmg funds from victims by representing,
falsely, that he would manage the funds through Cranney Capltal I, LLC ESOT, Cranney
Capital IIl, and/or Cranney Industries. Cranney represented that he would repay the
victims their prineipal and a high rate of interest.

SHAKLEE CORPORATION AF. FII.LLA TION
22.  The Cranney famil_y brought the Suaklee business to New Englénd.
23. Cranuey has worked for Shaklee Corpoeation, a direct sales natural nutrition

company, for the last forty-five (45) years under an independent distributorship contract,

' 24 In 1967, Cranney obtained his Shaklee independent distributorship contract by

filling out an application and was ‘;sponsored” into Shaklee by an individual who had an

existing independent distributorship contract with Shaklee.
25.  Shaklee is a multi-level maﬂceting Sys;em that is comprised of a hie.rar‘chyr of -

groups of individuals who obtain independent distribu_torship contracts with . Shaklee. -

Individuals who have existing independent distributorship contracts with Shaklee sponsor

new individuals into Shaklee to enable. them to obtain independent distributorship

contracts with Shaklee.




26.  Operating under a Shaklee independent distributorship contract generally involves

direct sales of Shaklee health and personal care products to customers, as well as

hierarchy are not only compensated for the products he or she sells, but they are also

compensated for the products sold by salespe()ple in their Shaklee “downline,” i.e. they

" recrﬁiting and training new . Shaklee salespeople. Individuals within the Shaklee

. are compensated for the products sold by salespeople he or she has trained and for

products sold by salespeople those salespeople have trained, and so forth.

27. A 2012 Shaklee newsletter describes Cranney’s involvement with Shaklee as .

follows:

Jack Cranney sponsored into Shaklee in 1967. He decided
the income opportunity and lifestyle of network marketing
were a perfect fit. After quickly becoming a Master
Coordinator, Jack sponsored his parents into Shaklee about
a year later and helped them grow to the rank of Master
too. Many in Shaklee fondly remember [Cranney’s
mother], who lived to be 103.

In the early 1970s, Jack began publishing support material
about how to build successful network marketing
businesses. - His programs and training material have been
used all over the world, and he holds copyrights on
hundreds of sales plans.

The Cranneys have driven dozens of luxury cars earned

- through their Shaklee business and have travelled around

the world on incentive -trips. They hold several all-time
company records, including the. largest wvertical and
horizontal development for 2010,

(See Exhibit 1).

28. Cranney’s mother opened a Shaklee downline group office under the name

Cranney Industries in C'ambr-idge,' Massachusetts in 1973 because she and Cranney’é

13




father were members of Clranney’s downline at Shaklee. Cranney took over Cranney
Indﬁstries in the. late 1980s.
| 29. Cranﬁey testiﬂed that he is likely in the top twenfy (20) of individuals in the
- Shaklee hierarchy. |
30. Cranney is the sponsor for approximately 50,000 irndividual Shaklee independent
distributorship éontracts, but Cranney testified that he could not be sure about the exact
numbers because Shaklee “purge[s] records.” As a sponsor, Cranney testified that he
trains individuals who fall in his immedi.ate “downline” of sponsorships and assists them
in growiné theirlShaklee businesses. |
31. - Cranney receives commissi.ons based on his downline of independent
| distributorship contracts. Cranney testiﬁed that he receives commissions on threé (3).or.
four (4) suBsets of groups that fall bélow him in the Shaklee hierafchy. Cranney’s |
commissions are generated by.product sales by the three (3) or four (4) subsets of groups
that fall below him, and he earns three (3) to six (6) percent on t.he sales of the individuals
within those subset groups.
32.  Cranney holds and ;aftends training sessions in Massac_husett_s and across the
| country for the subset of groups that he 'spon.sors within Shaklee.
33, He has also hosted training sessions at his home for a fee iﬁ Belmont,
Massachusetts for individuals whom he sponsors within Shaklee.
| CRANNEY INDUSTRIES D/B/A BELMONT INDUST RIES
34.  Cranny Industries d/b/a Belmont Industries (“Cranney Industries”) is a
corporation organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachuéetts_ on OctoBer

1,-1980.
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35. Cranﬁey testified that Cranney Industrie‘s is the first of the subset groups in his
dpwnline in the Shaklee hierarchical structure.
36. Cl.‘anney testified that there are approximately 10,000 individuals with
independent distributorship éontracts with Shaklee who fall within the Crannéy Industries
group. |
37. Crahney testified that the purpose of Cranney Industries is “[t]o sell Shaklee.
products and build other ofganizations.”
3.8._ From 1973 unii'l two (2) to three (3) montﬁs ago, Cranney Industries was based
out of a leased office location at 97 Bl'amchardl Road, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02478.
39. Cranney testiﬁea that only one (1) or two (2) individuals ever worked directly c;ut
of the Cambridge office location.
40, Cranney, through Cranney Industries, has issﬁed promissory n.otes to in_dividﬁals. _
Cranney testified thatl he has issued two (2) to three (3) promissoryj notes through
Cranney Industries.
41, Cranney Iﬁdustries has never held registrations in Massachusetts -as a broker- |
dealer, investment advfser, or in any other capacity in the securities business.
42, Crannéy Industries has never filed an application for the registration of, or ﬁotice _
of exemptioﬁ for, securities to be offered in Massachusetts.

CRANNEY CAPITAL I
‘43, Cranney Capital I filed articles of organization in Iowa in July of 2004.
44, Cranney testified that Cranney Capital 1 was an “ESOT” but could not identify

what the acronym ESOT stood for.
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45, 'Acc;ording to documents prqduced by Cranney to the Division pursuant to a
subﬁoena, an “ESOT?” refers to an “Employee Stock O\&;nership.Trust.”

46.  Cranney testified that approximately seven (7) years ago Jill Sch'wartz-Mﬁsin and
Howard Musin, his tax accountants that he met thféugh Shaklee who are members of his
downllir.le,,to]d him thaf he could set up an “ESOT” and referred him to an attorney in
Arizona.

47, A federal court permanently barred Howard Muéin, his wife Jill Schwartz-Musin
and their three companies (_SSC Services, Inc., M-S Services ‘Inc.,' and Schwartz’s
Systems Corporation) from preparing federal tax returns for others in 2011, The firm
| fabricated deductible business expenses for its clients, which included many Shaklee
distributors.

48. Cranney‘testiﬁe.d that the Musins “do probably more tax retufns fqr Shaklee
peopie than anybody in America.” |

.49. Craﬁney testiﬁ'ed t.hat he set up the “ESOT” through the attorney in Arizona and:
the Musins.

50.  Cranney testified further, “W'e;ll, the way it was described to me was there was
[sic] two, thére v;ras an ESOT, that’s E—S-O-T, and_there was an ESQOP, so I set up. the
bank account in ESOT and one in an ESOP. 1didn’t réally understand the difference. . .”
51.  The .Division has not received any documents by Cranney related to an “ESOP.”
52.- .The Division.'aIIG:ges that Cranney’s “Employee Stock Ownership Trust” title is a

fictitious amalgamation of two legitimate entities: an Employee Share Ownership Trust

(ESOT), a trust account through which a company can sell its shares to employees, and




an Employee Stock .Owne.rship Piaﬁ (ESOP), a program encouralging employeé.s to‘
purchase sto‘ck"in their company. |

- 53, Cranney testified that he doés not have much underSfandin.g of what an ESOT is

but that it is a fund that a small company could set up. for a group\of individgals, similar
toa 401(k) account. Cranney {estiﬁed‘ that the “ESOT” was for “a few people that want

to ﬁ.lnd.a fund.” Crannéy furthér testified that the “ESOT” was a “fund to fund,” which

he described as “you could tfansfer_money fro_m a (iua]iﬁed plan to an ESOT, and until

the money Wﬁs actually taken out there was no tax due-.”

54. ‘The Division alleges fhat Cranney utiliied the “ESOT” to. obtain acceé's to

investors’ retirement funds and a\-/oid a taxable event when reﬁ_rément funds were

transferred out of an investor’s account to the Cranney Cépital [ “ESOT.”

55. Upon information and belief, Cranney was not operating a qualified retirement

plan or ESOT. Victims were not employees of Cr:anney related entities. Instead,
Cranney intended to and did use the victim funds for his own purposes and to repay-
ambunts to other victims. The ESOT was merely a vehicle to enable the transfer of

qualified retirement plaﬁ monies without incurring taxes.

56. Cranney kn.owilllgly held himself out as an invéstment manager and financial

adviser when he was not rlicensec.l or rregistered in the securities industry at any time

during the' reievant time p.eriod'.

57. Crénney solicited victims: tq'.invést with him and represented that .he would

manage their moﬁey. :

58.  Cranney prorﬁised victims a rate of return for their investment ranging between

“prime” rate plus two (2) percent, capped at ten (10) to twelve (12) percent, annually,
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with a term ranging from fifty;ﬁve (55) days or one (1) to twelve (12) years, guaranteed
by a promiséory note signed by ‘Cranney.

59. . .Cranney p.‘rovided \lrictims with a “Qualiﬁed Plan Transfer Request Letter” that he
prepafed and signed, in order to facilitate the wire transfer of funds from their prior
qualified retirement plan or individual retirement account into a Cranney Capital I, LLC
ESOT bank account established ai Bank of America.

60. The “Qualified Plan Transfer Request Letter” states in multiple places that the

individual is transférring funds from his or her qualified retirement plan to a “qualiﬁed

retirement plan” account with Cranney Capital I, LLC, ESOT.

61.  The address fhat Clranney'included on some transfer paperwork for the Cfanney
entities 'was for a P.O. Box under his name, demonstrdting that the plan that lhe
represented as “qualified” was not held at a legitimate finangial institution,

62. At least oﬁe victim who invested with Cranney received account transfer
paperwork from Crannely that provided: “Cranney Capital I, LLC is authorized to invest
company assets in anything legal, including margin, hedge, puts, calls and other
investment strategies such as loéns.” (See Account Transfer Paperwork, at Exhibit 3).

63.  Cranney represented to victims that fund transfers from their retirement accounts

to the Cranney Capital 1 ESOT could be done without incurring taxes or penalties

because Cranney’s account was also a qualified retirement plan.

64.  Individuals executed “Qualified Plan Transfer Request Letters” to liquidate
retirement savings, including 401(k) accounts, and other retirement plans to invest in

what they believed, due to the representations of Cranney, was a qualified retirement

plan.
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65.  Following the receipt of the wire transfer funds, Cranney prepared and executed
promissory notes indicating the amount of the transfer as a “loan” received by Cr'anney

Capital I, with no mention of the ESOT.

66. When promissory notes became due, these notes were automatically renewed

unless no_tice was provided jn advance by victims.
67. Cranney prepaféd fake accountlstatemen'ts which purported to reflect “loan”
payments, interest, and amortization schedules.
68."  When victims requested payment of all or part of their money and “interest,” upon
information and belief, Cranney paid some of them with funds received from other
victims.
69.  On other occasions when vic_tims requested payment of all or part of their money
and “interest,” Cranney evaded their calls and emails; and sometimés used his travel
schedule or wife’s illness as excuses for his lack of availability.

CRANNEY CAPITAL 11
70. Cranney Capital 11 filed articles of organization in Iowa in December of 2004.
71.  Cranney des’criBed Crannéy Capital III as: “[A] corporation that basically if ‘
people give me monéy I give them a note, and I reinvest their .mo'ney in my businesses,
and I pay them out oﬁ the note when it comes to either térm or whatever arrangements
were made by the note.” ,
72.  Cranney testified that Cra@ey Capital III is not an “ESOT” plan like Cranney

Capital L
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73. | Cranney knowingly held himself out as an inyestment manager and financial
adviser when .he was not licenséd or registered in the securities industry at any time
during the relevant time period. |

74. Cranngy so'lici-tcd individuals to invest with him and reprcseﬁted that he would
manage their money.

75. Cranny represented to many individuais that he would invest their money in some
type of investment vehicle earning a high interest rate. For example, at least oné victim
wrote out a check to Cranne)lf Capital III in 2006 with the memo line “Investment fund.”
(See Check Copy, at Exhibi;t 4). Another-wrote out a check to Jack Cranney personé]ly in
2006 for $50,000 with the memo line “Investment.” (See Check Copy, at Exhibit 5).

76.  Cranney promised victims a high rate of return for their investment ranging from
“prime” rate plus two (2) percent, capped at ten (10) to twelve (12) percent annually, with
a term ranging from fifty-five (55) days or one (1)‘to twelvé (12) .years, guaranteed by a
promissory note‘_si:gned by Craﬁﬁey.
'77. - Following the receipt of funds from victims, Cranney prepared and execﬁted
" promissory notes indicating the amount of the transfer as a “loan” received by Cranney
Capital iII_. |

78.  Cranney testified that he issued promissory notes through Cranney.Capital 1II to
individuals who he knew through Shaklee.

79.  When promissory notes became due, these notes were automatically renewed
unless notiée was provided in advaﬁce by victims.

80. Cl"anney prepared fake account statements which purported to reflect “loan”

payments, interest, and amortization schedules.
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'_8 1. When victims requested payment of all or part of their money and “interest,” upon
‘ information and belief, Cranney paid some of them with funds received from other
victims.
82. On other occasiens when victims requested payment of all or part of their money
- and “interest,” Cranney evaded their calls and ernails, e.nd sometimes used his travel
schedule or wife’s illness as excuses for his lack of ayailability.

‘CRANNEYENTITY TOTALS
-83. Cranney testified that he has issued approximately twenty-five (25) to thirty (30)
promissory notes through Cranney Capitaill and Cranney C-ap'ital III for a total of
between six (6) and eight (8) million dollars.
84.  However, the Division estimates that these figures are higher. The Division
estimates.that' at least thirty-six (3‘6) individual vietims frem multiple states purchased
unregistered securities in the form of promissory notes through Cranney, Cranney Capitsl
I, Cranney Capital III and Cranney Industries and have sustained losses in excess of ten-
(10) niillion dollars.
.85.  Cranney testified that he has known most of the people whom he has issued.
promissory notes to through their affiliation with Shaklee for at least fifteen (135) to-
- twenty (20) years, and some as many as thirty (30) years. |
86. Cranney Capital I, Cranney Capital III, and Cranney Industries have never held
registrations in Massachusetts as brolrer-dealers, investment advisers, or in é.ny other

capacity in the securities business.
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87. Cranney Capital I,Cranney Capital III, and Cranney Industries have never filed

applications for the registration of, or notice of eéxemption for, securities to be offered in

- Massachusetts.

C. INITIAL VICTIM COMPLAINT TO THE DIVISION

VICTIMS ONE AND TWQ’

88.- Victim_s Ohe and Two are a coluplle in their 70s from Maine,
89.. ' Victims One and Two told the Division that they have known Cranney for _
approximately thiﬁy-ﬁve (35) years through.the'ir work with Shaklee because they are
Silakleg independent distributors and are members of Cranney’s downline through
Shaklee. |

90.  Victims One and Two first learned of the existence of Cranney Capital 1 from

Crannéy in 2007.

91.  After learning of Cranney Capital I, Victim One attended t_v&}o iir.westmen‘t courses
at Cranney’s house in Belmont, Massachusetts ledA by Rébgrt Deel.

92.  Cranney representéd to Victims One and Two that he had set lu'p an investment
fL_md éalled Crann‘e'y Capital I and that he and Déel would manage that fund.

93.  Cranney represented that Robert Deel was well-recognized on Wall Street and
was a well-known investor and broker.

94,  Cranney represented to Victims One and Two that they could earn eight (8)

percent interest by investing their retirement money in the Cranney Capital ] fund.

95. Cranney provided Victims One and Two with paperwork to enable them to

transfer money from thcir_éxisting retirement account to Cranney Capital 1.

? Names and confidential personal information have been withheld to preserve the privacy of victims.
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96. On August 14, 2008, Victim VOne completéd a one-pagé form provided by
Cranney to Vi'<l:ltims One and Two titled “Qualiﬁed Plan Tran;fer Request Letter.”

97.  The Qlualiﬁf:d Pian Transfer Request Letter form included the following pre-typed
lanéuage: “‘I_hav'e established a quéliﬁgd retitement plan account with. CRANNE?
'CAPITAL I, LLC, EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP TRUST. Please iiquidate
and tyansfer _ all or $  (check all or fill in émoum to be transferred) of my
accounts indicated above with you, in cash, to John W. Cranney,'Tfustee,' Cranney-
Capital |, LLC, Employee Stock Ownership Trust, per instructions belolw. L

98.  Atnotime have V;c_tims One and Two been employees of Cranney Cgpital L

99.' At no time during conversations with Victims One and Two did Cra.hneyl discuss
that fheir fundg would be invested in an employee stock ownership trust for Cranney
Capital I. | |

100. - On the Qualiﬁed Plan Transfer Request Letter.form, Victim One indicated that
fhc nam.e of accbunt v.vas “IRA Rollo.ver” and filled in $200,000 for the amount to be
transferred to Cranney Capital 1.

101. Victims One and Two transfer.red $200,000 from their Individual _Retirément
Account (“IRA”) held at Charles Schwab to invest in Cranney Capital I, |

102.  Although Crénney represelnted to Victims One and Two that they could rollover
theif‘yefirement savings into Cranny Capital I as an invelstment, Cranney provided
Victims One and Two with an acknowledgment letter and a prqmissory note stating that

their money was a “loan” to Cranney 'Cép'ital L
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103. Cranney sent an Acknowledgment Letter dated August 26, 2008 (“Victims One

and Two Acknowledgment Letter™) to Victim One acknowledging receipt of $200,000.00 '
by wire transfer to Cranney Capital I on August 15, 2008. |
104. The Victims One and Two Acknowledgment Letter stated: “Interest will be paid

on this loan at a rate of prime plus two percent (2%) per annum (simple interest) capped

_at twelve perécnt (12%) per annum (simple interest). The prime rate will be the rate

established and published by Bank of America.” .

105.  The Victims One and TWo‘ Acknowledgment Letter also stated: “A Promissory

Note containing the above terms and signed by Cranney Capital I will be sent. The term

of the Promissory note evidencing this loan will be from September 1, 2008 until August
30, 2009.” | |

106. Vic’tirﬁs One and Tw.o subsequently received a promissory nbfe. The promissory
note for Victiﬁé One and Two (*Victims One and Two Promissor}.' Note™) is dated
September 1, 2003 for the value of $200,000 and contained the following language:

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned Cranney Capital I of
885 Concord Avenue, Belmont, Massachusetts, (hereinafter the
“Borrower”), promises to pay to the order of [Victim One, Victim
‘One’s Address] (hereinafter the “Lenders™) their heirs, successors,
and assigns (collectively referred to as the “Parties”), the sum of
Two Hundred Thousand and 00/100 Doilars ($200,000.00) with
simple interest in the amount of prime (as determined by Bank of
America) plus Two pércent (2 %) per annum capped at Twelve
. percent (12%) for the term of the Note. The term of this Note shall .
be One (1) year starting September I, 2008 and ending August 31,
2009.” o

107.  When Victims One and Two asked Cranney why the Acknowledgiment Letfef and

PromisSory Note provided. that their money was a “loan” to Cranney Capital I, Cranney
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told them he legally had to prepare the paperwork stating that their money was a “loan”
in order to avoid paying taxes. -

108. Despite asking Cranney repeatedly for account statements after making their

_investment, Victims One and Two did not receive account statements related to their

$200,000 investment in Crénney Capital 1in 2008 and most of 2009.

109. In September of 2009, Cranney produced a fictitious account statement on

'C'rarmey Capital I letterhead for Victims One and Two réprésenting that their money was

earning an annual rate of seven percent (7%) interest, but also representing that their
money earned three different interest rates in 2008, rangihg from 5.5 to 6.5 peréent
interest.
110.  The September 2009 account statement provided that an opén balance of
§215,328.77 still remained.
111. Durihg the fall of 2009, Victims One and Two asked Cranney what was
happening to their money and he responded that it was parked in a large fund drawing
great interest and that they should not be concerned. |
112, Cranney sent a letter to Victim One dated September 15, 2009 regarding a
“Modified Contract November 15, 2009.”
113.  The September 15, 2009 letter from Cranney ‘to Victim One also inc_luded.an
attached document titléd “Modified Promissory Note” for the amount of $200,000 dated
November 15, 2009. | |
1 14. The Modified Promissory Note contained the following language:
This Modified Promissory Note shall extend the -lur;lp sum
payment date of the original Promissory Note to August 26, 2010.

Provided, however, that this lump sum payment date shall be
extended automatically for a period one (1) year if Lenders fail to
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notify Borrower in writing by certified mail (receipt date shall be
the date of notification) within thirty (90) [sic] days of relevant
lump sum payment date. Such renewal of this Modified
Promissory Note is perpetual and is halted only upon Borrower
received [sic] the required written notice prior to the end of the
applicable renewal term. Should Lenders give the required written
notice then Borrower shall be obligated to pay all principal and
interest due under the Modified Promissory Note. '
115. The Modified Promissory Note was solely signed by John W, Cranney, as
Manager of Cranney Capital 1. |
116.  Victims One and Two had never discussed with Cranney nor agreed to the
modified promissory note that he sent them.
117. Beginning in October of 2009 through early December of 2009, Victims One and
Two repeatedly asked Cranney when they would receive their annual minimum
distribution from their retirement fund.
118. After many telephone calls from Victims One and Two to Cranney, in mid-
December of 2009 Cranney sent a chéck- from Cranney Capital I for $10,000.00 to
Victims One and Two, without providing any paperwork associated with the ar_muai‘
minimum distribution.
119. The check from Cranney- to Victims One and Two for $10,000.00 came from a
Bank of America account under the name Cranney Capital I, and posted with Bank of
America on December 16, 2009. At the time this check posted, the Cranney Capital |
account had a balance of $115.58. Bank of America éharged Cranney a $35.00 overdraft
fee for the $10,000.00 check Craﬁney wrote to Victims One and Two. On December 17,

2009, Cranney transferf.cd $20,000.00 into this Cranney Capital I account from another

Bank of America account under the name Cranney Industries, Inc.
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120.  Throughout 2010, Victims One and Two asked Cranney about the fund several
ﬁmes and Cranney assured them that their ‘moﬁey was in the fund and doing well.

121.  In the fall of 2010, Victims One and Two asked Cranney several time_s over the
course of a few months to withdraw all of their money from the fund and return it to -
them. | |

122.  Cranney responded to Victims One and Two's requests to withdraw tﬁeir money
by telling th_em'that their money was invested in'a fund that could not be touched for
many monthsl. Cranney ignc‘)red" édditional withdrawal requests during 2010 from
Victims One and Two to with'dfaw their money as soon as possible. At other times
during 2010 when Victims One and Two bfought up the subject of rthleir with:drawaL
request, Cranney acted as if it was the first time he had learned of their'reques't.to
withd.raw their money.

123.  After r;lany telephone dalls to Cranney, he seﬁt Victims One and Two their annual
minimum dilstribution for 2010 towards the end of the year, without any accorﬁpanying
paperwork.

124.  In early 2011, Victims One and Two sent several e-mails to Cranney again
requesting all of their monéy back, but Crannéy did not respond to the ¢-mai1 requests.
125, Throughout 2011, Victims dne and Two requested on several occasions’ 1o
Cranney that he return theiri money, but he did not respond to them. Victims One and
" Two also sent Cranney a letter requesting their money back in 2011, but Cranney did not

respond to the letter. -

27




126. After many telephone callé, e-mailé, and several personal yisitg, Crapnéy sent
Victims One and Two their annual mini_mum distribution for 2011 towards the end of the
| year, without any accompanying paperwork. |
127. In February of 20.12',. \./ictimsr One and Two hired a lawyer who drafted a l.etter ‘
requesting fheir money back and Victims One and Two hand-delivered it to Cranney.
Cranney told Victims One and Two not 1o {:vorry and that their funds we're safe. He also
. told Victims bne and Two that he had just renéWed the long-term fund again and did not
realize that they wanted their money back. |
128. In April of 2012, Victims,Oné and Two again hired é lawyer to draft a follow up
request to Cranney that they wanted their money back. | | |
129. In_re.sponse to the law'yer’.s second letter, Cranney provided a one-page document
titled “Agreement” dated April 10, 2012 (“Victims One and Two Agreement”) to Victims
One and Two. |
130. Victims One and Two Agreement provides the fol]owipg:
It is agreed between John. W[.] Cranney -and [Victim One] that
John W. Cranney will at the sale of 885 Concord Avenue, Belmont
(the “Property” of John W. Cranney) cash out the Cranney Capital
I presently in place. :
This will be considéred a “iegal position” against the sale of the
- said “Property”. {sic] Transfer of funds will be completed within
15 days of the sale (closing) of the house at 885 Concord Avenue,

Belmont, MA 02478[.]

This is done in good faith by both parties and is to be kept
confidential between the two parties.

Signed: John W. Cranney
131, Victims One and Two Agreement was not discussed nor agreed to by Victims

One and Two and was only signed by John William Cranney.
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132.  On May 19, 2012, the Division received a Wriﬁen éomplaiht from Victims One
and Two describing their concerns related tol Cranney and their $200,000 investment with
him.

133.  To date, Cranney hé.s ‘ni‘)t returned” Victims One and Two’s investment from
Cranney Capital I. -

D. MASSACHUSETTS VICTIMS

VICTIM THREE

134. Victim Threé is an individual who is a re§ident of Andbver, Massachusetts.

135. Cranﬁéy téstiﬁed that he has known Victim Three since approximately 2010 énd
that Viétim Three was a friend of Cranney"s wife’s family from Michigan.

136. P;ior to Victim Three giving Cranney morléy, Cranney represented to Victim
Three that he was a financial adviser and investment manager. _

- 137.  Cranney solicitéd Victim Thfee for money to invest with him to rx;anage.

138._ -Cranney provided Victim Three with documénts that would enable Victim Thfee
to transfer money frém .other accounts into Cranney Capital 1.

139.  Cranney knew that the source of Victim Three’s funds was his entire 401(k)
acédunt from Charles Schwab and in October 2010 convinced Victim Three to transfer
all of these funds into Cranney Caplit.al I for him to manage.

140. Cranney told Victim Three that he could tranéfer his 401(1{) funds to Cranney
Capital I without incurring any taxes or penalties because Cranney Capital I \.Nas. also a

qualified plaﬁ.
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141.  Victim Three filled out a.two-page form provided by Cranney to Victim Three
 titled “Qualified Plan Transfer Request Letter” for him to fill out and give to the current
custodian of his funds to enable a transfer of all of those funds to Crannéy Capital L.
142.  The Qualified Plan Transfer Request Letter form for Victim Three contained the
follow:ing language:
I have established a qualified retirement plan account with
CRANNEY CAPITAL I, LLC, EMPLOYEE STOCK
OWNERSHIP TRUST. Please liquidate and transfer all or
$ (check all or fill in amount to be transferred) of my
accounts indicated above with you, in cash, to John 'W. Cranney,
Trustee, Cranney Capital I, LLC, Employee Stock Ownership
Trust, per instructions below. . . .
143.  Victim Three filled out the Qualified Plan Transfer Reqﬁest Letter form on
' October 20, 2010 with his addresé and an instruction to transfer $193,000.00 to Cranney
Capital 1.
144, Cranney signed his name on the form above a signature line for “John W.
Craﬁney, Trustee/Custodiaﬁ” and u_nder a section that provided: “Cranney Capital I, LLC
Employee Stock Q'wnersh.ip Trust hereby accepts from your custodianship the above
requested transfer of assets for the qualified plan account established for the above named
_participant.”
145. At no time has Victim Three been an employee of Cranney Capital 1.
146. At no time did Cranney state that Victim Three’s investments would be invested ‘

in a trust for Cranney Capital L.

147 Upon information and belief, Cranney Capital | is not a qualified retirement plan.
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148, Cranney sent Victim Three an Acknowledgment Letter signed by Cranney -dated

October 25, 2010 (“Victim Three Acknowledgement Letter”) on Cranney Capital I
letterhead.
149.  The Vi_ctim Three Acknowledgment Letter represented that: “[i]nterest will be -

paid on this loan at the rate ten percent (10%) per annum (simple interest) for the first

_year and then prime plus two percent for the next four years per annum (simple interest) .

~ with the total loan capped at ten percent (10%).”

150. The Victim Three Acknowledgement Lc_atter also provided that a Cranney Capital
I promissory note would be sent at a later date and that the term of the note would be five
(5) years “but Will renew automatically, unless Cifann_ey Capital [ receives written request
that the Note be paid in part or in full at the end of a specific term. This written notice
must be recei%ie'd by Cranney Capital 1 at the address contained in the Promissory Note
within 180 days of the end of the applicable Note term.”

151. Cranney represented to Victim Three that he had to réfer to his investment as a

“loan” to avoid paying taxes.

| 152, InlJuly of 2011, Victim Three requested all of his investment back from Crannéy.

153. In August of 2011, Cranney sent a letter accompanied by certain documents to
Victim Thrée, inclﬁding an account stétement, the October 25, 2010 letter to Victim
Three, a promissory note dated October 25, 2010, the Qualified Plan Transfer Request‘
Letter, and a copy of a Charles Schwab business card witﬁ some-hand\'zvritten no‘tes on it

154, The promissory note .for Victim Three (“Victim Three Promissory Note™) that

was included as an attachment to Cranney’s August 2011 letter was dated October 25, .

2010. The Victim Three Promissory Note described Cranney Capital [ as the “Bofrower”
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of $193,000.00 from Victim Three for a duration of five (5) years, with “Ten Percent
(10%) simple interest for a period of One (1) Year and then prime plus two percent (as
determined by Bank of America) for the following Four (4) Years.”
155.  The Victim Three Promissory Note contained a provision that the note would
renew automatically for three (3) years unless Victim Three provided 180 days notice to
Cranney Capital I. The note further provided that such automatic renewal was “perpetual
and is only halted upon [Victim Three] giving the required written notice prior to the end
of the applicable renewal term and receiving all principal and interest due under the
Note.”
156. Cranney generated or instructed a part-time assistant to gene'ratc the fictitious
- account statement dated from August 2011, which represented a “Nominal Annual Rate”
of ten (10} percent interest. The August 2011 account statement providéd that “[a]n open
balénce of $207,858.36 still remains.”
157. On August 9, 2011, Victim Three e-mailed Cranney with the subject
“Confirmation to Withdraw my 401K Immediately.” Victim Three wrote the following
to Cranney:

Thank you for stopping by Sunday evening . . . | was surprised and

disappointed that I am unable to rapidly withdraw my money and

don’t understand why this is an issue. . . . Please expedite my

request-and let me know when i [sic] can pick up a check. i [sic]

don’t care what you have to do because you always represented to -

me that my funds were available. I would never have given you

my money if 1 [sic] ever thought i [sic] would be in the position

where i [sic] have to chase you down for weeks and still not have

my funds. ‘

158.  On Augusi 10, 2011, Victim Three replied to his initial e-mail to Cranney and

asked when he could pick up his check.
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159.  On August 11, 201 1, Victim Three again réplied to his e-mail chain to Cranney
and wrote the following:

Jack, [a]t this point it would be obvious to anyone that you are

engaged in some type of scam with my 401K funds. No serious

businessman would act so evasive over three weeks of my many .
straightforward and regular requests. It is clear i [sic] have been

blatantly lied to and as a result [ am not only disappointed but now

very upset . . . . Repeatedly you assured me 1 [sic] would have
access to my funds at any time i [sic] desired. When i [sic] asked

you how i [sic] would get my funds if you were unavailable you

told me your people would be responsive. Yet now you are using

the excuse of being out of time as the justification for hiding from

my request. . . . [Y]ou claim to have a pool of $15M and for some

inexplicable reason can not [sic] write me a check for $200K. . . .

Jack, I am incredibly disappointed because i {sic] counted you as a

legitimate businessman, a trusted advisor and someone from whom

i [sic] could learn. This experience has has [sic] left me with the

opposite view.

160. On or around August 21, 2011, Cranney and Victim Three met to discuss
| questions that Victim Three had about his account with Cranney.
161. The following day, August 22, 2011, Victim Three sent Cranney a letter
summarizing the discussion he had with Cranney the previous night. The letter from
Victim Three to Cranney was titled “Immediate refurn of my entire 401K and provided
the following summary:
Thank you for stopping by last night to review the status of my
investments you are managing. . . . After contemplating our
discussion I remain skeptical regarding the legality of how you
coerced me in investing my entire 401K with you. Your comments
vesterday only further raised concern because of all of the
contradictory claims and your lack of coming forth with actual
facts and or [sic] specifics.

In summary we discussed the following:

. 1. My money (approximateiy $200K) is not invested in the stock
~ market but instead is in hard assets (gold).
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2. My money is part of a $15 million pool you own, control and -
invest on my behalf and others. These funds are made up of your
own money, your sister’s money, multiple Shaklee associates and
me. You are able to pay a premium interest rate buy [sic] securing
an aggressive interest rate on a long term deposit on the total $15

“million and then you trade in the market for the additional points

that make up 10% (for example if you receive 4% in the long term
note you trade for the remaining 6%). . . . You also indicated my
money was the last fund you included in this group and this was

done as a favor to me given I am being treated as family.

3. You indicated the $15 million pool is invested for a fixed 5
years that is difficult to break. However you indicated you would
be able to break the fund but it would take approximately 6-8
weeks to complete. Can you explain why it is so_difficult to
break and why it would take so long? Also if you are trading for

6% of $15 million that means you have to clear almost $1million
[sic] per year. [Ijt is unclear to me why you are not able to just
write me a check for $200K given the amount of money you are
turning over. -

5. You explained that my money was classified as a promissory
note in order to preserve my funds and not subject me to the
volatilities of the stock market. . .. This is concerning because my
understanding is that the money is in an ESOP. Why is the money
received as a promissory note vet invested in an ESOP?

8. Last night together we went through my entire investment files
since you first started advising me and there was- no
documentation. This documentation is important as I am very
confused and concerned about how this transaction is constructed.
What I remember is that this was a short-term investment and that I
had access to my money at any time either directly or through a
transfer of funds. I have always been clear that [ am not a financial

~ expert and have depended on your financial expertise. . . .

10. Specifically my money is classified as a loan. But how is my
loan collateralized? In_other words how_ are you able to
guarantee my funds? What happens to my money if you file
for bankruptey? The more I think about this entire arrangement

‘the more concerned I become.
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12.  Last night you recommended that I stay invested for the
balance of the 10% payout perlod

1 expect a written response by end day on Friday August 28,
2011. If I do not receive a written communication from you by
Friday 8/26 [sic} I will conclude you are either unwilling or unable
to return my funds; or you may be engaged in some type of illegal -
or illegitimate scheme which has potentially defrauded me of my
hard earned money.
162 . On March 11, 2011, Créndey_ conveyed all of his interest in 885 Concord Avenue,
Belmont, Massachusetts to himself as Trustee of the John William Cranney Revocable
Trust, and to his wife, as trustee of a revocable trust in her name, as.tenants in common.
163.  On September 5, 2011, Victim.Three and Cranney executed an agreement
(*Victim Three Agreement”) that provided the following terms:
It 1s agreed between John W[.] Cranney and [Victim Three] that
John W, Cranney will at the sale of 885 Concord Ave Belmont (the
“Property” of John w (sic] Cranney)[,] [Victim Three] will be
given $193,000 at 10% interest upon closing of the house and
transfer of funds. This will be considered a “first position” against
the sale of the said “Property”. [sic]
164, The Victim Three Agreement also contained a provision that the agreement be
kept confidential.
165, Cranney has not returned any of Victim Three’s principal or interest from his
Investment m Cranney Capital 1.
166. On- April 24, 2012, Victim Three ﬁled a ctvil lawsunt against Cranney,
individually and as Trustee of the John William Cranney Revocal:_)le Trust, and against

Cranney’s wife, as trustee of.a revocable trust in her name, in Middlesex Superior Court

in Massachusetts for breach of contract, fraud, conversion, and fraudulent transfer.
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167. On May 7, 2012, Victim Three obtained a $250,000 atfachment on Cranney’s

residence in Belmont, Massachusetts.

VICTIM FOUR

168. Victim Four is a 70-year old individual who is a resident of Haverhill,
Massachusetts. Victim Four did not complete her high school eduéation.

169. Viétim Four was a friend 6f the Cranney family and worked for Cranney
Industries perioaicaliy in the early 20005. |

170. Cranney.rep.resentedlto Victim Four that he was anlinvestment manager of a
multi-million dollar investment fuhd. |

171. "Cranney represented to Victim Four that he was advising her in her best intefest
when he told her aboﬁt the investment fund. |

172, In approximately January of 2002, Cranney advised Victim Four that she should

use equity in her home to obtain income to generate until she was eligible for Social

Security paymehts.

‘173.'. Cranney conveyéd to Victim Four that she couid provide this money to him and
hé would give her a high raie of interest. | |

174, Cranney represented to Viqtifn Four_ that her money was safe and that this was a
wise investment.

175. ‘Cr'an'ne_y chose a mortgage broker for Victim Four to visit and through this broker,
‘Victim Four mortgaged her home and provided Cranney with $95,000 in early January of

2002.

36



176 Later in January of 2002, Cranney persuaded Victim Four to liquidate her entire
401(k) account and give him an additional $45,000, which he told her would earn twelve
(12) percent interest. |

177: Victim Four asked Cranney about taxes and penalties related to withdrawing her
401(k) funds and Cranney told her not to worry about it. |

 178.  Cranney prepared a promissory -note for Victim Four. dated April 23, 2002
(“\./ictim Four Promissory Note™) that described Cranney Industriés, Inc.- d/b/a Belmont
Industries of 97 Blanchard Rd., Cambridge, Massachusetts _02478 as the “Borrolwer” 6f
$140,000.00 from Victim Four:with a “balloon payment” due on April 23, 2007.

176. 'i‘he Victirﬁ Four Promissory Note provided that Victim Four would receive
monthly payments. |

180. The Victim Four Promissory Note also pI.‘OVidCd that the annual interest rate
would be twelve (12) percent simple interest for the first three (3) years and thereafter
interest would accrue ét four (4) percenf above the Fleet Bank Boston prime lending rate
per year capped at twelve (12) percent per year.l ‘

181. In approximately .IMay of 2003, the Internal Re;/enue Service (“IRS”) assessed
$10,000 iﬁ taxes and $500 in penalties against Victim Four for hér eérly‘ withdrawal of
$45,000 from her 401(k) account, |

182.  Victim Four had to ask ‘Cranney for the funds to pay the taxes and penalties and
he wrote her a check for $10;000 on June 9, 2003, but it was retumed due to insufficient
funds. Cranney subsequently wrote four (4) separate checks for $2,500 which Victim

| Four used to pay the taxes.
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183.  From 2003 through May of 2007, Cranhey paid Victim Four monthly payments of
approximately $1,400 each drawn from the Cranney Industries account.

184.  From June 2007 through February 2008, Cranney made lower monthly payments |

to Victim Four of $700 each from Cranney Industries,

185.-  On February 20, 2008, Victim Four received $500 from Cranney Industries.

186. Victim Four has not received any other payments from Cranney or any Cranney
entity to date.

187. On April 23, 2007, Cranney failed to make the balloon payment to Victim F;Jur.'
188. | Cranney repeatedly represented to Victim Four that he would pay her in full.

189. | On March 30, 2010, Cranney provided Victim Four with a “Cdnﬁrmatory
Agreement” (“Victim Four Confirmatory Agreement™).

190.. The Victim Four Confirmatory Agreement provided that ‘the Victim Four
Promissory Note would be modified such that (a) the ba'lloonl payment date wopld be
extended to March 31, 2012, (b) interest on the Victim Four Promissory Note would be
cépped_ at ten ('10)‘percent interest perl year, (¢} monthly payrrients of $700 would be paid
to Victim 'Foﬁr to reducé interest payments due, and (d) interest would ﬁot be
compounded on the Victim Four Promissory Note, .

191.  The Viétim_Foﬁr Conﬁrmatory Agreement was only signed by John W. Cranney,
who was listed as the President of Cranney Indusfrics, Inc. d/b/a Belmont Indﬁstries.

192. Victim Four has not received any additional pa)'fmenté from‘Cranney or any

Cranney entity to date.

193, Victim Four does not have any other life savings and is struggling to make her

mortgage payments on her home.

38



194. OnlJune 7, 2012, Victim Four filed a civil lawsuit against Cranney, individually
and as Trustee of the John William' Craﬁney Revocable Trust, Crannéy’s wife, as trustee
of a revocable trust in her name, Cranney Ihdustries, Inc. d/b/a Belmont Indﬁstries, aﬁd
Shaklee, in Middlésex Superior Court in Massachusetts for breach of promissory note,
fraud, conversion, unjust enrichment, and fraudulent transfer.
'195.  On June 13, 2012, Victim Four obtained a $200,000 attachment on Cranny’s
residence in Belmont, Massachusetts. | | |

VICTIMS FIVE AND SIX

196.  Victims Five and Six are a couple who are residents of Essex, Massachusetts.

197.  Victim Five met Cranney in approximately 2007 through Shaklee.

198. Cranney discussed Cranney Capital I with Victim Five beginning in
approximgté_ly 2009_. |

199.~ Cranney provided paperwork to Victim Five to enable him to transfer funds from
his existing retirement account into Cranney Capital I, -

200. Victim Five filled out the papérwbrk that Cranney provided to him and wired
$57,067.13 to Cranney Capit'al I on February 18, 2010.

201. Cranney sent Victim Five an Aéknowlédgment Letter signed by Cranney on
March 23, 2010 (“Victim Five Acknowledgement Letter”) on Cranney Capital 1
letterhead. |

202.  The Victim Five Acknéwledgment Letter represented that: “[i]nterestl- will be
paid on this loan at the raté of ten perccni (.10%) per annum (simple i'nterest).”

203. The Victim Five Acknowledgment Letter further prdvided that a promiss.ory note

would be sent at a later date, and that the term of the note would be one (1) year from the
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* deposit date, but v'vould.renew automatically unless Craﬁne)} Ca.pital I received a w_ﬁtten
request for ql] or part of the money‘within‘ 180 days before the end of the note term.
204, Crahney_ also prepared a pfomisso‘ry note .to . Victim Five (“Victim Five
Promissory Note™) dated February 18, 2010. The Vict‘im.Five Pro.missory Note described |
Cranﬁey Capital 1 as the “Borrower” of $57,067.13 from Victim Five for a duration of
one (1) year, with interést described as ten (10) percent annual iﬁterest.
205. The Victim Five Promissory Note proviaed that the note would - renew
automatically for t_hree (3) years unless‘Victim Five prow)ided 180 days notice before the
énd of the .riote terrr'l..‘ If the note is renewed, then the -new rate after the first year would.
be “primé (as determined by Bank of America) plus Two_p_erceﬁt (2; %) per annum
cappéd at Te_ﬁ percent (10%) for the term of the Note.”
206. The Victim Five Promissory Note further provided that such autorﬁatic renewal
was “perpet.ual and is-only halted upon [Victim Five] ‘giving the required written 'l;lotice :
prior to the end of the applicable renewal te&n and receiving all ﬁrincipal and interest due
under the Notg.” |
207. Victim Five signed apd dated a‘form titled “Pa;'ticipant rinvestment.Direc.tive
Cranney Capitél I, LLC, lEmployee Stock Ownership Trust” on. March 24, 2010 which
provided that; | |
The undersigﬁed acknowled.ges that he/she is an account holder in
the Cranney Capital [, LLC, Employee Stock Ownership Trust. As
an account holder, I hereby authorize and direct the Trustee of the
Cranney Capital 1, LLC, Employee Stock Ownership  Trust to
invest the value of my account in membership interests of Cranney
Capital 1, LLC. I understand that the Operating Manager of the
Cranney Capital I, LLC is authorized to invest company assets in

anything legal, including margin, hedge, puts, calls and other
investment strategies such as loans. '
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(See Exhibit 3).

208. At no time has Victim Five-been an empioyee of Cranney Capitél 1.
209. Cranney also provided p'apf;rwork' to Victim Six to enable her to transfer funds
into Cranney Capital 1. |
210. Victim Six filled out transfef paperwork that Cranney provided to her and Wired
'$65,491.18 to Cranney Capital I on Febr'uary 18, 2010.
211, Cranney sent Victim Six an Acknbwledgment Letter signed by Cranney on March
23,2010 (*Victim Six Acknowledgement Lgtter”) on Craﬁney Capital | letterhead.
212. The Victim Six Acknowledgment Letter represented that: “{i]nterest will be paid
on this loan at the ‘rate‘ of t'én-.percent (10%) per annum (simple interest).” -
213.  The Victim Six Ackhowledgment Letter furthér pfovided that a promissory note
would be sent at a-later date, and that the term of the nbté would be one (D year from the
deposit aatc, but ‘would ren'ew. autom.aticali); unless Cranney Capital | received a'writ_ten
| request forléll or part of the money within 180 days before the end of the note term.
214, Cranney also prepared a promissory note to Victim Six (“Victim Six Promissory
Note™) di_ated February 18, 2010. The Victirﬂ Six Promissory Note described Cranney
Capital I as the “Borrower” of $65,491 .SS'from Victim Six for a duration of one (1) year,
with interest described -as ten (10) peréent annual interest. |
215. . The Victim Six Promissory Note 'provided that the note would renew
autorﬁatically for three (3)‘ yeﬁrs unless Victim Six provided 180 days notice beforeth-e
end of the note term. If the note is renewed, then the new rate afier the first year would
be “prime (as determihed by Bank of America) plus Two percent (2 %) per annum

capped at Ten perceht (10%) for the term of the Note.”
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216. The Victim Six Promissory Note further provided that such automatic renewal
was “perpetual and is only halted upon [Victim Sfx] giving the fequired written notice
prior to the end of the applicable renewal term and receiving all pfincipal' and interest due

undér the Note.”

217.  Victims Five and Six have not received any account statements or additional

documents from Cranney since the acknowledgéme’nt letters and promissory notes..
218. To date, Victims Five and Six have not received any principal or interest

payments from Cranney or any Cranney entity.

VICTIMS SEVEN AND EIGHT

219. Victims Seven and Eight .are .a couple who are residents of A-rlington,r

Massachusetts. .

-220. -Cranney héé known Victims Seven and Eight for ﬁfteen (l 5) to twenty (20) years
and that ihey'are Shaklee independent distributors within Cranney’s Shaklee downline
group. |

221.  Victim Seven invested $3,307.12 into Cfanney Capital I in August 2009.

222. Cranney sent Victim Seven an Acknowledgmént Letter signed by Cranney on

March 23, 2010 (*Victim Seven Acknowledgement Letter”) on Cranney Capital I |

letterhead.
223.  The Victim Sevéh Acknowledgment Letter represented that: “[i]nterest will be
paid on this loan amount at the rate of teh percent (10%) per annum (simple interest) for

the first year, The second and third year[s] will be paid at the rate of prime plus two

perceht simple interest per annum; capped at 10%, based on the published prime rates of

Bank of America.”
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224: The Victim Seven Acknowledgment Letter furthér provided that a promissory
note would be sent ét a later date, and that the term of the note would be thres: (3) years
froﬁi deposit date,.b.ut'would renew automatically unless Cranney Capital I received a
written request for all or part of the monéy within 120 _days before the end of the note
term. |

225.  Cranney. élso prepared a prq.missory. note to Victim Seven (“Victim Seven
Promissory Note”) dated August 26, 2009. The Victim Seven Promfssory Note described
Cranney Capital I as the “Borrower” of $3,307.12 from Victim Seven for a durationl of
three (3) years, with interest described as ten( 10) percent for the first year, and then the
new rate after the first year would be ;‘prime .(as‘ determined by Bank of Americg) plus
Two percent (I2 %) per annum capped at Ten peréent (10%) for the balance of the term of
the Note[.]”

226. The Victim Seven Promissory Note contained a pr_ovision that the nbte would
renev‘u\r automatically for three (3) years unless Victim Seven provided 120 days notice
before the end of the note term. The note further provided that such automatic renewal
was “perpetual and is only halted upon [Victim Seven] giving the required written notice '
prior to the end of the applicable renewal term and receiving all principal and interest due
under the Note.” |

227.  The Victim Seven Promissory Note is only signed by Johﬁ W. Cranney, who is
listed as the Manager of Cranney Capital 1.

228.  On the evening lof May 29, 2009, Victim Eight e-mailed Cranne}; a spreadsheet 6f
her and her huéband’s, Victim ‘Seven, 2009 budget along with directions to their house in

anticipation of a meeting with Cranney the following day.
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229.  Victim Eight invested $188,625.00 into Cranney Capital I in June 2009.'

'230.  Cranney sent Victim Eight an Acknowledgment Letter signed by Crdnney on Juiy
18, 2009 (“Victim Eight Acknowledgement Letter”) on Crannesf Capital I letterhead.

231. The Victim Eight Acknowledgment Letter represented that: “'[i']nt'ercst will be
paid on this loan amount at the rate of ten pércent (10%) per annum (simple' interest) for
the first year. The second and third year]s] will be paid at the rate of prime plus two
percent simple interest per annum, capped at 10%, based on the published prime rates of
Bank of America.” -

232.. The Victim Eight Acknowledgment Letter further provided that a prdmissory note
would be sent at a later date, and that the term of the note wbuld be three (3) years from
dg:posit date, but would renew automatically unless Cranney Capital I received a written
réquest for all or part of the money within 120 days before the end of the note term.

233. Cranney also prepared a promissory note to Victim Eight (“Victim Eight
Promiésory Note™) dated June 30, 2009_. The Victim Eight 'Promissofy Note dcscribed_
| Cranney Caﬁital I as the “Borrower” of $188,625.00 from Victim Eight for a.duration of
three (3) yéars, with interest described as ten (10) percent for the first year, and then the
new rate after the first year would be “prime (as deteﬁnined by Bank of America) plus
Two percent (2 %) per énnurﬁ capped at Ten percent (10%) for the balance of the term of
the Note[.]”

234. The V?ctim Eight Prorﬁissory Note contained a provision that the note would
rencw automatically for three (3) ye-ars unless Victiml Eight pfovided 120 days notiée
before the end of the note term. The note further provlided that such automatic rene\;val

was “perpetual and is only halted upon [Victim Eight] giving the required written notice
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prior to the end of the applicable regewal term and reéeiving all principal and interest due
under the Noté.”

235. To datle, Cranney has not made any principal or interest p‘aymenfs to- Vicims
Seven and Eight related to their investments in Cranney Capital I. .

VICTIMS NINE AND TEN

236.  Victims Nine and Ten are a couple from Gloucester, Massachusetts.
237.  Cranney testiﬁed that he has known Victims Nine and Ten for fifteen (15) to
twenty (20) years and that they are Shaklee independent distributors within Cranney’s
Shaklee downliné group.
238. Cranney provided documents to Victims Nine and Ten that would enable them to
transfer money from other accounts into Cranney Capital L.
239. Cranney provided Victims Nine and Ten a one-page form titled “Qualified Plan
Transfer Request Letter” for Victims Nine and Ten to fill out and give to the current
custodian of their funds to enable a transfer of those funds to Cranney Capital I. The
form contained the following language:
I have established a qualified retirement plan account with
CRANNEY CAPITAL I, LLC, EMPLOYEE STOCK
OWNERSHIP TRUST. Please liquidate and transfer all or
$ (check all or fill in amount to be transferred) of my
accounts indicated above with you, in cash, to John W, Cranney,
Trustee, Cranney Capital I, LLC, Employee Stock Ownership
Trust, per instructions below. . . .
240. At no time have Victims Nine and Ten been employees of Cranney Capital L.
241. At no time did Cranney state that Victims Nine and Ten’s investments would be

invested in a trust for Cranney Capital 1.

242.  In the spring of 2008, Victim Ten wired $36,162.99 to Cranney Capital I.
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243. Cranney provided an acknowledgment .lette.r signed by him dated May 10, 2008 to
: | Victim Ten (“Victim ‘Ten Acknowledgment Letter”) acknowledging that $36,162.99 was
received by wire transfer on April 23, 2008.

.244. The Vfctirn Ten Acknowledgment Letter stated that “[i|nterest will be paid on this
loan at the rate of prime plﬁs two percent (2%) per annum (simple interest} capped at
twelve percent (12%) per annum (simple interest). The prime r.ate will be the rate
~ established and published by Bank of America.” | |
245. The Vietim Ten Acknowledgment Letter also stated that a promissory note would
be sent at a later date and that ‘.‘[t]he term of the Promissory note evidencing this loan will
be eight years from the date .Of deposit, but will renew automatically,.unless Cfanney
Capital I receives writteh' requegt that the Note be paid in paﬁ or in full at the end of a
specific term. This written notice must be received by Cranney Capital I at the address
coﬁtained in the Prdmissory Note within 180 days of the eﬁd of the applicable Note
term.”

246. Cranney drafted and sent a promisspry note to Victim Ten (*Victim Ten
Promissory Note™) reﬂecﬁng her investﬁqent with Cranney Capital I. |

247. The Victim Ten Promissory Note described Cranney Capitél I of 885 Concord
Avenue, Belmont,lMassachusetts as the “Borrower” of $ﬁ6,162.99 from Victim Ten for a
duration of eight (53) years, with interest described as “the amouﬁt of prime (as
determined by Bank of America) pius Two percent (2 %) per annurﬁ éapped at Twelve‘
percent (12%) for the term of the Note.’;

248.  The Victim Ten Promissory Note contained a provision that thé note would renew

automatically for three (3) years unless Victim Ten provided 180 days notice to obtain
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principal and interest payments. The note further provided that such automatic renewal

was “perpetual and 1s only haltéd upon [Victim Ten] giving the required written notice

“prior to the end of the applicable renewal term and receiving all principal and interest due

under the Note.”
249. The Victim Ten Promissory Note is only signed by John W. Cranney, who is

listed as the Manager of Cranney Capital 1. -

1250, Inthe spring of 2008, Victim Nine wired $348,498.12 to Cranney Capital 1.

251.  Cranney 'providéd an acknowledgment letter si‘gned by him dated May 10, 2008 to
Victim Nine (“Victim Nine Acknowledgmcnt Letter”) acknowledging ;[hat $348,498.12
waé. received by wire tra'nsfeli on April 23, 2008.

252,  The Victim Nine Acknowledgmént Letter stated that “[i]nterest will be paid on
this loan at the rate of prime pius two percent {2%) per annum (simple interest) capped at
twelve percent (12%) per annum (simple interest). The ﬁrime rate will be the rate
established and published b}lf Bank of _Arrierica.”

253.  The Victim Nine Acknowledgment Letter also stated that a promissory' nolte
would be sent at a later date and that “[t]he term of the Promissory note evide_ﬁcing this
‘loan will be eight years from the date of deposit, but will rgnéw automatically, unless
Cranney Capital 1 reclei.vcs written request that the Note be paid in part or in full at the
end of a specific term. This Wriﬁen notice must be received by Cranney Capital I at the

address contained in the Promissory Note within 180 days of the end of the applicable

Note term.”.

254. Cranney drafted and sent a promissory note to Victim Nine (“Victim Nine

Promissory Note™) reflecting his investment with Cranney Capital 1.
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255. The Victim Nine Promissory Note descfibed Cranney Cz;pitai I of 885 Concord
Avenue, Belmont, Massachusetts as the “Borrower.” of $36,162.99 from Victim Nine for
a duration of eight (8) years, _with interest described as “the amount of prime (as
- determined by Bank of Arheri_ca) plus Two percent (2 %) per aﬁnum capped at Tv;/elve.
percent (12%) f;>r the term of thie Note.” -

- 256, The V'icti_m Nine Prdmissory 'Noté'qontained a provision that the note would
renew automatically -for three (3) years unless Victim Nine prdvided 1_80I days notice to
obtain‘_principal and interest payments. The note further provided that such aﬁtomatic |
_reneWal was “perpetual aﬁd is oqu halted upon [Victim Nine] giv‘ing the required written
notice ‘prior to the end of the applicable renewal term aﬂd receiving all princ_:ipal and
interest due under the Note.”I |

257. .The Victim Nine Promissbry Note is only signed by' John W. Cranney, who is
listed as the Manager of Crannéy Capital 1. |

258. Cranney testified that Viétim Nine also ga-ve additional money to Cranney Capital
1. |

'.7;59' When asked where Victims Nine a.nd Ten’s money went aftér they gave it to
‘Cranney, Cranney testiﬁéd: “The money was put into ther business. I put it ba(.‘,k in.
Well, not in the business. I think it was put back into wherever I.needed to make money
withit. .. .” |

260. Cranney made several monthly payment checks to Victim Ni_ﬁe between 2008 and
‘the end of 2009, fanging from checks for $7,000 to $10,500. All checks written to.

Victim Nine were written on Bank of America checks from the accounts of Cranney

Capital III and Cranney Industries.




261. To date, Cranney has not paid Victims Nine and Ten any principal or interest
payments for their investments into Cranney Capital I.

VIC TIMS ELEVEN AND TWELVE

262. Victims Eleven and Twelve are a couple who are residents of T0psﬁeld
Massachusetts.

263. Victims Eleven end Twelve invested a total of $78,709.02, in the form of two
check‘s to Cranney Capital I for $1 6,825.99 and $61,883.03, in 2007.

264. Cranne'y sent Victim Eleven an Ackhowledgment Letter signed by Crénney on
August 1, 2007 (“Victim Eleven Acknowledéement Letter”) on Cranney Capital IV
letterhead. | |

265. The Victim Eleven Acknowledgment Letter represented that: “[i]nterest will be
paid on this loan at the rate of prime plus two percent (2%) per annum (simple interes-t)
capped at ten percent (10%) per annum (sin’iple interest). The bpri.me rate will be the rate
established and published by Bank of America.” |

266. The Victim Eleven Acknowledgment Letter further provided that a promlssory
note would be sent at a later date, and that the term of the note would be ten (10) years

from deposit date, but would renew automatically unless Cranney Capital I received a -

 written request for all or part of the money within 180 days before the end of the note

term.
267. Cranney also prepared a:promissory note to Victim Eleven (“Victim Eleven
Promissory Note”) dated August 1, 2007. The Victim Eleven Promissory Note described

Cranney Capital I as the “Borrower” of $78,709.02 from Victim Eleven for a duration of
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ten (10) years, with interest described as “prime (as determined by Bank of America) plus
Two percent (2 %) per annum capped at Ten percent (10%) for the term of the Note.”
268. The - Victim Eleven Promissory Note provided that the note would renew

automatically for three years (3) unless Victim Eleven provided 180 days notice before

the end of the note term. The note also provided that such automatic renewal is

“perpetual and is halted only upon [Victim Eleven] giving the required written notice
prior to the end of the applicable renewal term and receiving all principal and interest due

under the the.”

269. Upon information and belief,'Vigtims Eleven and Twelve have not been paid any

principal or interest payments from their investments with Cranney Capital I.

VICTIM THIRTEEN

270.  Victim Thirteeﬁ is an individual who is a resident of Dartmouth, Massachusetts.
271.  Cranney testified that he has known Victim Thirteen for approximately six (6) to
seven (7) years through alarm system work that Victim Thirteen has done on Cranney’s

Belmont home and that Victim Thirteen may be in Cranney’s Shaklee independent

- distributor group.

272.  Victim Thirteen invested $398,208.31 into Cranney Capital I in ApriI 2005, with

an additional $710.12 invested in May 2005, and $270.44 invested in August 2005 for a

~ total investment of $399,188.75.

273.  The source orf Victim Thirteen’s funds was a trad_itional IRA account held at A.G.

Edwards & Sons, Inc.
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274. - Cranﬁey sent Victim Thirteen an ACkriowledgmént Letter signed by Cranney
dated August 30, 2005 (“Victim Thirteen Acknqwledgérrient Letter””) on Cranney Capital
[ letterhead. |

275.  The Victim Thirteen Acknowledgment Letter represented that: “{i]nterest will be
paid on the total loan at thel rate of primé plus two percent interest as established and
| published by Bank of America. Thé term of this note will be eight years from the date of
deposit, but will renew automatically to the condifions and interest specified in the note
'dated August 36, 2005. Please notify us iﬁ wﬁting if you wish to withdraw the funds
giving 180 days notice.” |

276. Clranney‘also issued a promissory nqte‘to Victim Thirteen (f‘Victim Thirteen
* Promissory Note”j dated August 30, 2005. The Vict;lm'Thirteen Promissory Note
described Cranney Capital I as the “Borrower” of $399,2OS.19 from Victim Thirteeﬁ for
é duration of eight (8) years, with iﬁterest‘described as “the amount of prime (as
.determined by Bank of America) plué Two percent (2 %) per annum capped at Twelve
percent (12%) for the term of .the Note.” |

277. The Victim Thirteen Promisspry Note cbntained a provision that the note would
renew automatically for three (3) yéars unless .Victim Thirteen provided 180 days notice
to obtain principal and intere.st payments. The note further provided that such automatic
renewal was “perpetual land is only halted upon.- [Vicﬁm Thirteen] giving the required
written notice prior to the end of the applicaBIe renewal term and receiving all principal
and interest due under the Note.”

278. The Victim Thirteen Promissory Note is only signed by John W. Cranhey, who is

listed as the Manager of Cranney Capital 1.
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279. Cranney generated or instructed a part-time assistant to generate a fictitious

account statement in 2008 for Victim Thirte‘en. (“Victim.Thirtee_nAAccouht Statement”).

The account statement represented a “nominal annual rate” of 7.250%, but also showed

fifteen (15} interest rate'changes ranging from 7.250% to 10.250% interest betweeﬁ 2005
and 2008 o | |

280. The 2008 Victim Thirteen Accouﬁt Statement stated that l“[a]n open balance of’
532,230.44 still remains.”

281. To date, Cranney has not paid Victim Thirteen any principal or interest péyments

from his investments into Cranney Capital 1.

E. OUT-OF-STATE VICTIMS

" VICTIM FOURTEEN

282.  Victim Fourteen is an individual who is a resident of Salt Lake City, Utah.
283.  Victim Fourteen is Cranney’s sister.
284. Cranney represented that Victim Fourteen could give him money for an

investment that would eain at least six (6) percent annual interest.

285, Victim Fourteen used money from a retirement trust from her deceased husband’s

retirement plan to give to Cranney as an investment.
286. In August of 2008, Victim Fourteen invested $400,000 wifh Cranney Capital 1."

287. Cranney sent Victim Fourteen an AcknoWlédgment Letter signed by Cranney on

~ August 13, 2008 (“V.ictim Fourteen Acknowledgement Letter’) 6n Cranney Capital ]

letterhead.
288. The Victim Fourteen Acknowledgment Letter represented that: “[i.]ﬁterest will be

paid on this loan at the rate of prime plus two percent (2%) per annum (simple interest)
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capped at twelve percent (12%) per annum (simple interest). The prime rate will be the
rate established and published by Bank of America.”

289. The Victim Fourteen Acknowledgment Letter further provided that a promissory

note would be sent at a later date, and that the term of the note would be from September

1, 2008 until 'August 30, 2009. There was no language in the acknowledgement letter

regarding renewal of the note.

290. Cranney also prepared a promissory note to Victim Fourteen (“Victim Fourteen

Promissory Note™) dated September 1, 2008. The Victim Fourteen. Promissory’ Note

described Cranney Capital I as the “Borrower” of $400,000.00 from Victim Fourteen for

one (1) year, beginning Septcmber 1, 2008 through August 31, 2009. The Victim
Fourteen Promissdry Note described the. interest és “prime (as determined by Bank of

America) plus Two percent (2 %) per annum capped at T_wellve percent (12%) for the

‘term of the Note.” The note contained no renewal provisibns.

291, In September of 2009, Cranney sent Victim Fourteen a new promissory note
dated September 1, 2009 which attempted to extenq the investmen;c period.

292.  Victim Fourteen did not agree to extend the investment, and wrote a letter to
Cranney on Septeﬁber 14, 2009 requesting ail of her money back. Victim Fourteen
requested the money be returned a.s- soon as possible because she needed to submit

accounting information related to her retirement account.

293. . Victim Fourteen wrote another letter to Cranney dated November 3, 2009 which

stated:

As you know, 1 have been trying to.get you to communicate with -
me for nearly two months without success. Your letter of

- September 1 makes it quite clear that we have different memories
of any financial discussions. You have decided what you wili do
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with my money. That decision is' mine to make, not yours.l. T

am instructing you to return my initial $400,000 plus interest by

the end of November 2009.
294, Ina lettér dated June 6, 2012 from Victim Fourteen fo Cranne)}, Victim Fourteen
wrote the following: “Dear Jack, [i]t is impossible to reach you by any knowﬁ means. . . .
My téx-year Bas ended April 1, 201 1 — March 31, 2012 and so I have to get my tax report
in by next month.” The June 6, 2012 letter from Victim Fourteen also 'i_nclllld.ed a chart
summarizing that she had received three (3) checks totaling $154,700.00 between 2009
and ‘2.01 1, one check from Cranney Industries and two checks from Cranney Capital 1.

Victim Fourteen further provided in her letter: “Amount still owing [Victim Fourteen] . .

o $345,300.00. This is principal — no interest. Jack I need my money. When can I expect

295. To date, Cranney owes Victim Fourteen the return of the remainder of her
principal and interest payments.-

VICTIM FIFTEEN

296. Victim Fifteen was an individual and resident of Fresno, Califomia. :

297.  Victim Fifteen kneﬁ Cranney for over forty (4d) years through ‘working with him
through a Shaklee iﬁdependent distributorship contract.r |

298l. ~Within two (2) months of Victim Fifteen’s husband passing away, Cfanney flew
out to California to visit Victim Fifteen and went to her house to tell her about a great
investment that she could make with him.

299.  Cranney told her that her investment would be risk free and guaranteed that her

funds could.not'be lost.
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300. Cranney told Victim Fifteen' about investmehts from other people that Victim
Fifteen also knew through Shaklee to convince Vic.tim Fifteén that investing with him
was a good idea because other people she knew had dc;ne $0.

301.  Victim AFifteen cashed out stocks and withdrew money from her bank acpouﬁt to
give to Cranﬁey as an investment. |
302.  Victim Fifieen also withdrew money from an IRA account to invest with Cranney
and was charged a penalty for garly withdx_‘a\%fal.

303. Victim Fifteen and her accountant had to “hound” lCranney to respond to them
and obtain proper documentation from him related to the IRA penalty. |

304.  Victim Fifteen made three (3) separate investments in 2008 to Cranney Capital I
and Cranney Capital III,-aﬁd invested a total of $104,217.95 with the Cranney entities.
305. Cranney provided an aéknowledgment letter and promissory note to Victim
Fifteen in 2008 that described an ‘éight-yéar term to the note.

306. Victim Fifteen had never discussed an eight-year term for her investment with
Cranney.

307. Approximately six (6) months aft.er Victim Fifteen’s initial investment, Cranney
aftemp’ted to solicit more money from her, but she did not agree to ao sO.

308. | .Vic_tim Fifteen never received any principall or interest payments from Cranney.
309. Victim F iﬂeén passed away in 2011 at the age of seveﬁty-seveh an.

310. Victim Fifteen’s sons wrote to Cranney in January of 2012 and asked té liquidate
_ their mother’s investment with him to enable them to settle their rﬁother’s estate.
311.  Victim Fifteen’s sons and their accountant discovered that Victim Fifteen ghou]d

have received arinual distributions from a qualified retirement plan due to her age
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eligibility, but had never received any from Cranney because, upon information and

' bélief, he had not set up a qualified plan like he had represented.

312. To date, Cranney has not returned Victim Fifteen’s pfincipal or inte_rest payments
from her investment in Cranney Capital I and Cranney Capital 11T and her sons have been
unable to settle their m‘othe’r’s.estate without information from Cranney.

313. | On July 10, 2012, Vif_;tim fifteen’s son, as executor c;f her estate, jointly filed a
lawsuit with other Cranney victims against Cranney, Cranny Capital I, and Cranney
Capital 111 in United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts to recoup
funds totaling more than $3.5 million invested with Cranney and the.Cranney entities.
Upon information and belief, the other Cranney victims who brought suit against

Cranney and his entities are elderly individuals currently in their 80s.

F. TOTAL VICTIMS AND AMOUNTS INVESTED WITH CRANNEY ENTITIES

314. The Division is aware of ten (10) Massachusetts victims who invested money.

- with Cranney.

315. The Division estimates that the total amount that these ten (10) Massachusetts |
victims invested with Cranney is $1,5 10,069.15. |

316. The Divisiqn- i.s aware of thirty-six (36) total victims who invested money with
Cranney, including victims from Massachusetts, Maryland, California, Michigan, Kansas,
Georgia, New Hampshire, Texas, Utah,r Mainé,_Tennessée,-Connecticut, Mislsouril, and

Florida,

. 317. The Division estimates that the total amount that these thirty-six (36) victims

invested with Cranney is.$10,370,304.63.
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318.  When asked what he did with the money given by individua.ls, Cranney-testified:
“I mean the money would be put back into the business entities and basically it would be
used for whatever training, travel, what we did with people, and just géneral development
of the 'btllsiness and the maintenance of the facility that we used and all of the things that

go along with the business.”

G. CONTACT WITH CRANNEY REGARDING DIVISION’S INVESTIGATION

319. During the céurse of its investigation, the Divisidn reached out to individuals that
it identified as ‘victims with Cranney and his entities. On at least one occasion, a victim
contacted Cranney after the Division left a message for her. When the victim spoke with
Cranney on the phone, Cranney gave her specific instructions on how to respond to the.
Division staff if the victim returned the call to the Division. Cranney .told her that
everﬁhing was fine and not to discuss certain details of her invéstment that_ she made
Wiih him. Cranney told the victim that if she told the Division that she made an
‘-‘investment” with him as opposed to a “loan,” that his “goose would be cooked.”
Cranney instructed the victim to tell the Division that she made a deal with Jack to loan |
him money for ten (10) pef;ent ‘return per year and that she was very happy with the deal
she made with him. He instrﬁcted her not to say the word “investing” to the Division, but
instead to use the word “note” or “loan” when describing the deal with him,

" H. CONCLUSION

320. All of Cranney’s representations to his victims concemihg his ability to manage
their money were false. Cranney was not a financial advisor or investment manager in

any capacity related to the securities industry.
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321. Upon information and belief, Cranney knew that the money he obtained from

. victims was not used for any investment purpose, but was instead used by Cranney for his

own personal benefit, his related Shaklee distributorship, and to pay other victims who
requested payment when their notes became due or who had a specific périodic paymenf

plan before their note was due.

322. "On or about 2008; Cranney begém to default on payments to some victims when

they demanded money back. -

323.  Cranney persuéded many victims to renew or modify exisﬁng promiésory notes in
order to delay payr'xlqent.' |

324 a Cranncy.crcated ﬁctiﬁous account statements to assure victims that their money
wa-s'safe and they would “be paid in full.

325. The Crannéy entities jown no real or personal property .whose present value
exceeds one thousand dollars ($1,000.00). -

326. Indiw;dually, Cranney owns no real or personal property worth more'than: ten

thousand dollars ($10,000.00) other than his residential home.

327. Cranney .agréed to grant two victims a “first positionh” or “legal position” in the

sale of his residential homé at 885 .Concord Avenue,- Belmont, Massachusetts in order to
repay their principal plus interest. These agreements were not secured interests in his
home. |

328. During its investigation, the Division uncovered twenty (20) related bank

accounts with Bank of America, including accounts in the name of Cranney Capital I,

Cranney Capital 11, Cranney Capital III, Cranney Industries, Cranney,'and Cranney and




his wife. Six (6) of these bank accounts have been closed. The highest balance of the

open bank accounts is $103.47 and the lowest balance is $3.43.

329. Cranney also maintained twelve (12) related accounts at Charles Schwab & Co.

~and CyberTrader, Inc., A Charles Schwab Co. (“Schwab”). One (1) of these Schwab

accounts has been ¢losed. The highest balaﬁce of the open Schwab accounts is $1,266.76
and the lowest balance is $200.00.

330.  On March 15,-2011, for no consideration, Cranney -conveyed all of his interest in

- 885 Concord Avenue, Belmont, ‘Massachusets to himself, as Trustee of The John

William Cranney Revocable Trust and to his wife, as Trﬁsteé of ‘a revocable trust in her
narﬁe, as tenants in cdmmon. |

331 Within the last month, Cranney testified that he had taken the residence out of
t‘rusf so that he could refinance his home with Chase. |

332.. Cranney testified that in his view he has the ability and intention to repay the

“loans,” “based on the fact that at some point the house will sell, that’s going to give me

~ probably 40 to 50 percent of it, and then from there this stuff is scattered out over years

of time.. . .”

333. Currently, Cranney;s residential home is offered for sale at $3.8 million. He has

"+ two (2) outstanding mortgage obligations of approximately $1.5 million aﬁd $500,000.

© VIII. VIOLATIONS OF THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT

A. Count 1:

334, Section 101 of the Act states that;

It is unlawful for any person, in connection with the offer,
sale or purchase of any security, directly or indirectly

(1) to employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,
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(2) to make any untrue statement of a material fact or to
omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make
the statements made, in the light of the circumstances
under which they are made, not misleading, or

(3) to engage in any act, practice, or course of business
which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit
upon any person.

Mass. GEN. Laws ch. 1104, § 101.

1335, The Division herein restates and re-alleges the facts and allegations set forth in

- paragraphs | through 333 above.

336. The conduct of Respondents, as described'above, constitutes a violation of Mass.
GEN. Laws ch. 1104, § 101.

B. Count 2: Violation of Section 201(a)

337. Section 201(a) of the Act provides, in. pertinent.part: “(a) It'is unlawful for any
perso'n to transac.t business in this commonwealth as a Broker—dealer or agent unless he is
registered under this chaptef.” MASS. GEN. LAws ch. 110A, § 201(a).

338. The Division herein restates and re-alleges the facts and allegations set forth in
paragraphs 1 through 333 above. |

339, The conduct of Respondents, as’ deséribed above, coﬁstitutes a violation of MASS.
GEN. LAWS ch. 1104, § 201(a). |

C. Count 3: Violation of Section 201(5)

340. Section 201(b} of the Act provides, in_pertinent part:

(b) It is unlawful for any broker-dealér or issuer to employ an agent
unless the agent is registered. The registration of an agent is not effective
during any period when he is not associated with a particular broker-dealer
registered under this chapter or a particular issuer. When an agent begins
or terminates a connection with a broker-dealer or issuer, or begins or
terminates those activities which make him an agent, the agent as well as* -
-the broker-dealer or issuer shall promptly notify the secretary. |
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MASS‘. GEN. Laws ch. 110A, § 201(b).
341. The Division herein restafes and re-alleges the facts and allegations set foﬁh in
paragraphs 1 through 333 above. |

342. The conduct of Resﬁéndenté, as described above, constitutes a violaﬁbn of MASS.
GEN. LAWS ch. 1104, § 201(b). |

D. Count 4: Violation.of Section 201(¢)

343. Section .20](0) of the Act provides, in pertirlyent part: “(c) It is unlawful for any
person to transact bl.lsiness in this commonwealth as an investment advisér or as an
investment adviser rep.resentati.v'e unlesé he is so registered under this chapter.” MASS.
GEN. Laws ch. 110A, § 201(c).

344, The Divisi.on herein restates ahd_ re-alleges the facts and allegations set forth in
paragr‘aphs‘ 1 through 333 above. |

. 345.  The conduct of Respondents, as deécribed above, constitutes a violation of MASS.

GEN. LAWS ch. 110A, § 201(c).

E. Count 5: Violation of Section 201(d)(i)
346. Section 201(d)(i) of the Act provides, in pertinent part:

(d) It is unlawful for: (i) any investment adviser required to be registered
to employ an investment adviser representative unless the investment
adviser representative is registered under this chapter, but the registration
of an investment adviser representative shall not be effective during any
period when he is not employed by an investment adviser registered under
this chapter . . . . ' S

MASS. GEN. Laws ch. 1104, § 201(d)().

347.  The Division herein restates and re-alleges the facts and allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 through 333 above.




348.  The conduct of Respondenfs, as described above, constitutes a violation of MASS. -
© GEN. Laws ch. 1104, § 201(d)(0).

F. Count 6: Violation of Section 301

349, Section 301 of the Act'providés: ’

It is unlawful for any person to offer or sell any security in the
commonwealth unless:--

(1) the security is registered under this chapter;
(2) the security or transaction is exempted under section 402; or
(3) the security is a federal covered security.
Mass. GEN. Laws ch. 110A, § 301.
© 350. The Division herein restates and re-alleges the facts and allegations set forth in
paragraphs 1 through 333 above.
351. The conduct of Re:spondents, as described above, constitutes a violation of MASS.

GEN. Laws ch. 110A, § 301.

IX. STATUTORY BASIS FOR SECURITIES DIVISION’S ACTION

352. Section 407A of the Act, entitled Violations; Cease and Desist Orders; Costs,
provides in pertinent part.

(a) If the secretary determines, after notice and- opportunity for
hearing, that any person has engaged in or is about to engage in any
act or practice constituting a violation of any provision of this
chapter or any rule or order issued thereunder, he may order such
person to cease and desist from such unlawful act or practice and
may take such affirmative action, including the imposition of an
administrative fine, the issuance of an order for an accounting,
disgorgement or rescission or any othér such relief as in his
judgment may be necessary to carry out the purposes of [the Act].

Mass. GEN. Laws ch. 110A, § 407A(a).

353, The Division herein restates and re-alleges the facts and allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 through 333 above.




354, The conduct of Respondents, as described above, constitutes a violation of MASS.

GEN. Laws ch. 1104, § 407A.

X. PUBLIC INTEREST

For any and all of the reasons set forth above, it is in the public interest. and will
protect Massachusetts investors to enter an Order: (a) requiring Respondents 'tq
temporz;rily cease and desist from acting as unregistered broker-dealers or as investment '
advisers and invlestment adviser representatives; (b) requiring Respondents to temporarily
cease and desist from effectuating the offer and sale of unregistered securities .in the
Commonwealth until and unless the securities are properly registered or soid pursuanf to
an exemption from registration under the Act; (c) requiring Respondents to temporarily
cease and desistlfrom fraudulent activity in violation of the Act and Regulations; (d)
requiring Respondents, after notice and opportunity for hearing, to permanently cease and
desi‘st from acting as unregistered broker-dealers or investment advisers and investment
adviser repreéentatives; (e) requiring Respondents, after no'ti.ce and opportunity for
hearing, to ‘permanently cease and desist from effectuating the offer and sale of
' unregistered securities in the Commo_nwealth until a-nd unless the securities are prope;ly
registered or sold pursuant to an exemption from registration uncier the Act; (f) requiring
Respondents, after notice and opportunity for hearing, to permanently cease and desist
_ from ﬁaudulent activity in violation of the Act and Regulations; (g) requiring
Respondents to provide an accounting of all pfoéegds that were received as a result of the
alleged wrongdoing, and to offcrrrescissiqn to and fairly compensate victims for those
losses attributable to the alleged wrongdoing; (h) requiring Respondents to disgorge all

proceeds and other direct or indirect remuneration received from the alleged wrongdoing;
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(i) requiring Respondents to pay én administrative fine in an amount and upon such terms
and conditions as the Director or Hearing Officer may determine; (j) barring Respondents
frém acting as or being associated with any Massachﬁsetts-registéred broker-dealer; (k)
barring Respondents frorﬁ acting as. or being associated-.with any Massachusetts-

- registered investment adviser or investment adviser representative; and (1) requesting the

Director or Hearing Officer to take such further action against Respondents as may be |

deemed just and appropriate for the protection of investors.

XI. RELIEF REQUESTED

WHER_EFOR-E,- the Enforcement Section of the Division requests that the

Director or Hearing Officer take the following actions: -

A Fihd as faét all the allegations set forth in paragraphs 1 through 333, inclusive of the .

Complaiqt;
B. Find .that all sanctions and remedies detailed herein are in the public interest and

' necessary for the protection of Massa.chusetts investors;

C. Issue a Cease and Desist Order against Respondents ordering Respondents to
temporarily cease aﬁd desist from acﬁng as _unregistered Er,oker-dealers or as investment
advisers and investment adviser representatives.and from effectuating the offer and sale
of unregisteréd securities in the Commonwealth until aﬁd unless the securities are
properly registered or sold pursuant to an exemption from régistration under the Act;

D. Issue a Cease and Desist Order against Resp_ond_ents';l ordéring Respondents to

temporarily cease and desist from fraudulent activity in violation of the Act and

Regulations;




E. Enter a. permanenf Order against- Respondents ordering Respond;'nts to permanently
cease and desisi;from ac;ting as unregistered brokér-dealers or investment advisers and
investment adviser representatives and from effectuating the offer and sale of
unregistered securities in the Commonwealth until and unless the securities are properly

registered or sold pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Act;

F. Enter a permanent Order against Reépondents ordering Respondents to permanently.

cease and desist from fraudulent activity in violation of the Act and Regulations;
G. Order Respondents to provide an accounting of all proceeds that were received as a
result of the atleged wrongdoing, and to offer rescission to and fairly compensate victims

for those losses attributable to the alleged wrongdoihg;

H. Order Respondents to disgorge all proceeds and other direct or indirect remuneration

received from the alleged wrongdoing;

I. Impose an administrative fine on Res‘p’op‘dents in an amount and upoﬁ such terms and
conditions as the Directdr or Hearing Officer may determine;

J. Bar Resﬁpndents from acting as or being asso.ciated with any Massachusetts-registered
broker-dea,ler,- investment adviser or investment a;dviser rep_resentative; and

K. Take such furthér action againét Respoﬁdents as may be deemed just and appropriate

for the protection of investors.
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Dated: July 24, 2012

MASSACHUSETTS SECURITIES DIVISION -
ENFORCEMENT SECTION
By its attorneys, -

Upe- Yoy —

Elyse J. Boyle, Esq.”
Gina Gombar, Deputy Chief of Enforcement
Patrick J. Ahearn, Chief of Enforcement

. Massachusetts Securities Division

One Ashburton Place, Room 1701
Boston, MA 02108

© (617) 727-3548 (telephone)

(617) 248-0177 (facsimile)
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